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ABOUT OCCUPATIONAL  
THERAPY AUSTRALIA

Occupational Therapy Australia  
(OTA) is the national professional 
association for occupational 

therapists in Australia. Our members  
are occupational therapists, students  
and those involved in the profession  
who work in a variety of practice  
areas to enable people to participate  
in meaningful activities. 

Our mission is to provide member benefits 
through access to local professional 
support and resources, and through 
opportunities to contribute to, and shape, 
professional excellence.

For more information about Occupational 
Therapy Australia, visit www.otaus.com.au.

© Occupational Therapy Australia 2018

This work is copyright. You may download, 
display, print and reproduce this material 
in unaltered form only (retaining this notice) 
for your personal, non-commercial use or 
use within your organisation. Apart from 
any use as permitted under the Copyright 
Act 1968, all other rights are reserved. 
Requests for further authorisation should 
be directed to The National Manager: 
Marketing via email at marketing@otaus.
com.au OR via post at Occupational 
Therapy Australia 6/340 Gore Street Fitzroy 
Victoria 3085
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P R E S I D E N T ’ S  R E P O R T

PRESIDENT’S REPORT

Leading up to the 2017 National 
conference, we launched a new process 
for members to nominate for Board 

election. The campaign called Come on 
Board involved new marketing strategies 
and direct engagement with Board and 
interested members via teleconference  
and other means, resulting in the highest 
number of nominations in OTA history.  
OTA seeks to ensure excellence and 
accountability to members via a skills- 
based board. We thank OTA members  
who nominated, those who voted via the 
democratic processes. We acknowledge the 
diligent work of the Nominations Committee 
in mapping the skills of all nominees against 
the capacities then required from co-opted 
vacancies. The retiring Board members were 
thanked, and the new members announced 
at the AGM in October 2018. The Board has  
a continued focused on balancing strategy 
and risk, with new and emerging risks such 
as cybersecurity sitting among the regular 
items on our agenda. 

At the National Conference in Perth we 
launched our three-year strategic plan  
for 2017 to 2020. Organisations tend to 
develop in phases from formulation and 
consolidation to growth and innovation.  
The 2017 – 2020 plan was designed with the 
knowledge that our association was moving 
into a new development phase. In March 
2018, with heartfelt difficulty Rachel Norris 
announced she was moving on to a new 
opportunity, ending her tenure in June.  
The Board sincerely thanks our staff for 
working so conscientiously in the operation 
of OTA during the reporting period. 

It is my privilege to present the 2017-18 Occupational Therapy  
Australia annual report on behalf of the Board of Directors.  
It has been a challenging and eventful year.

OTA values both unity and collaboration.  
We have worked with members to lobby and 
advocate for a wide diversity of professional 
practice issues. In May, at the WFOT 
Congress in Cape Town, we showcased  
our lobbying framework and successes in 
translating position papers into government 
submission and then recommendations  
or actions. The paper was well received  
with several of our fellow Associations 
commending us. The Congress also had a 
strong reflective theme of politics, diversity, 
voice, decolonisation and consideration  
of occupational therapy practice into the 
next 100 years. Themes vital to OTA as  
we continue our work on our Reflective 
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). 

We have grown via our membership 
engagement strategies and continuing 
professional development offerings. We 
have listened to feedback regarding quality, 
access and evidence. We sincerely thank 
those occupational therapists for voicing 
their concerns and providing constructive 
feedback which we can use effectively, and 
for sharing when the services they receive 
are valued and helpful. We continue to strive 
to ensure the strategic plan is lived through 
nationally equitable actions and outcomes 
but with a local flavour in the divisions. 

Knowing that our members wish the public 
to have a better understanding of what 
occupational therapy practice is and what 
we offer our communities, we trialled a 
range of new outward facing initiatives. 
These include the OT Week train advertising 
in two of the larger city centres and the 

launch of the about occupational therapy 
website. Our social media strategy grows  
in diversity and reach. A large project has 
continued in this period, not yet visible but 
highly anticipated by members. I speak of 
the work on the database that will ultimately 
scaffold our capacity to launch the new 
website, integrate many of our core services 
and streamline members experiences.  
We thank you for your ongoing patience as 
we work methodically on the details of the 
project with the relevant technical experts. 

Ultimately the success of OTA is due to  
the commitment of many individuals and 
groups across Australia. Our capacity to  
live our values of respect, unity, excellence, 
integrity, collaboration and accountability  
is paramount and will continue to keep us 
grounded as we move into another new 
phase of innovation at OTA. We are as strong 
as our membership and our goal is to grow 
in numbers and therefore in voice. I thank 
you all for your commitment to occupational 
therapy profession and the diverse 
communities we serve. 

Angela Berndt, OTA President
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O P E R A T I O N A L  R E P O R T

The need to respond and plan ahead 
was an important part of our strategy 
to sustain the association’s future. 

In late May 2018 we ran what we intend to 
be the first of many annual “events” to say 
thank you to you our members for your 
membership, contributions and support. 
This support has many forms from being on 
committees and working parties, providing 
information for submissions, being a mentor, 
being a presenter of CPD, and being an 
advocate on professional issues to name 
but a few: We know that without you OTA 
would not be the same.

Member Appreciation Week comprised of a 
series of eight member appreciation videos 
on our Facebook page – this reached over 
17,000 people and videos were viewed  
over 4,000 times. We also offered access  
to a number of free webinars – and at the 
close of the week over 773 members had 
accessed these.

We have significantly increased our 
engagement with external stakeholders 
during the reporting period, which has 
meant OTA is regularly invited to participate 
in inquiries and reviews that directly impact 
the profession.

Our work in developing the Document 
Framework and the Research Academy 
continue to develop the depth within our 
staff and members to respond quickly  
to state and national policy agendas. 

Within Practice Standards we continue to 
respond to our members needs in relation 
to Mentoring, by developing practice guides 

OPERATIONAL REPORT

and continually reviewing our position 
statements. In the reporting period, 
approximately 250 members benefitted 
from the MentorLink Program. Both mentors 
and mentees continue to derive positive 
benefits from this facilitated mentoring 
program. Approximately 145 mentors  
were involved in the program with over  
110 MentorLink partnerships operating 
throughout the year. Increasing membership 
numbers resulted in over 300 queries to  
the MentorLink Program in 2017 – 18, with 
peak registration periods coinciding with 
university graduations. A waiting list was 
re-instated for most of the year to manage 
increasing demand. The changing landscape 
of occupational therapy employment 
continues to have an impact, particularly on 
new graduates. The MentorLink Programs 
popularity proves it continues to be a great 
benefit to OTA members.

In relation to CPD OTA aims to provide 
accessible and relevant professional 
education and resources that integrate  
valid research evidence to support  
clinical decision making and professional 
engagement. CPD has continued to grow 
over the 2017/ 18 financial year building on 
the foundations established in the previous 
year. We offered 7 more workshops and  
49 more webinars, with 9062 registrations 
across all our CPD platforms, this is over 
1600 more registrations than the 2016/17 
financial year. 

With the growth in webinars was an 
associated refinement of webinar 
accessibility processes, OTA endeavouring 

to provide members with an easy access, 
high quality experience at all times. 

In addition to our regular CPD offering  
we also provided four focused events,  
the National Conference, The Vic/Tas 
Regional Conference, The Mental Health 
Symposium and our inaugural Private 
Practice Symposium. 

The Government Relations team continued 
to advocate on behalf of the profession to 
raise the profile of occupational therapists 
and ensure their contribution is more widely 
recognised. As always, we acknowledge the 
contribution of our five National Reference 
Groups, without whom much of this work 
would not be possible. We also recognise 
the input of all those members who have 
provided feedback on submissions. In 
2017/18 we have worked proactively to 
increase the uptake of OT services through 
more referrals from more sources. OTA is 
also working to ensure that OTs whose  
work comes through government-funded 
schemes are appropriately remunerated.

As the depth and breadth of work undertaken by occupational therapists 
continues to grow, so too has OTA’s member services.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY REPORT 
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

End of year operating profit of 

$47,986

6.9
$2.25
$2.34

Million in  
total assets

Million current 
assets

Million of non- 
current assets
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Revenue 
streams

34%
Revenue 
increase

1.79

7
$4.4 Million total 

equity

Working  
Capital ratio

Finance Risk and 
Audit meetings

Finance Report 
For full and detailed information in relation 
to the financial health of the organisation, 
please refer to the separate Auditor’s financial 
statements commencing on page 32. 

End of year financial results 
In the reporting period OTA has remained 
profitable. An end of year operating profit  
of $47,986 was recorded before a prior 
period adjustment. 

Across the 10 existing revenue streams,  
an increase of 34% has been achieved during 
the reporting period. This strong performance 
has been driven by membership levels 
reaching a high for the association with a 
13% increase compared with last year, and 
CPD continuing to be profitable. OTA’s 
membership numbers were at the highest 
number they have been. A significant 
increase in members has been in those 

under the age of 25. Building a connection 
with these professionals early in their career 
will be integral to the long term health of OTA. 

Reflection on the balance sheet 
OTA has a strong balance sheet 
underpinned by a good range and depth  
of assets. Of the $6.9 million in total assets: 

$2.25 million are classified as current assets 
located in term deposits earning in excess  
of 2% interest, which is a reasonable return 
considering market volatility during the 
reporting period.

$2.34 million of non-current assets represent 
offices located in NSW and Victoria.

A current ratio of 1.79 demonstrates that 
OTA has a strong financial grounding in 
terms of liquidity, further supported by a 
growth in total equity to $4.4 million in the 
current financial year. 

Current Ratio trends

2013 2014 2015 / 16 2016 / 17 2017 / 18
1.62 1.35 2.18 1.69 1.79

Equity trends

2013 2014 2016 2017 2018
$3,103,851.00 $2,969,424.00 $4,018,446.00 $3,853,420.00 $4,431,262.00

Sustainability 
Sustainability of the association continues 
to be a key focus. OTA performed in line with 
industry standards for relevant ratios. As an 
example, in relation to Risk Free Return on 
Equity (annualised on Net Assets), OTA 
currently generates returns approximately  
at the risk free return, which justifies the 
continued existence of the organisation.  
In relation to our internally driven ratios,  
it is the aim of the Association to build its 

revenue base through diversification of 
revenue streams and targets have been 
established to grow core areas, while 
reducing the risks of relying on membership 
as its core source of revenue. Although it  
is the intent to grow membership, it is also  
a goal that this does not exceed 50% of  
all revenue. During the reporting period 
membership as a total of revenue  
was 45.2%.
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YEAR IN REVIEW

Webinars

71

eLearning modules

54 Appearances at  
public hearings

41Mentions of OTA 
in Australian media

90 Workshops

131

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500

Workshops: 1839

Webinars: 2484

Online*: 2493

SIG’s & RIG’s: 2246

Registrations (total): 

9062

*eLearning and CPD ibrary

41

31
Media releases issued

Meetings with politicians, 
departmental officials and 
other key stakeholders

28

(federal and state) made 
with the contribution  
of members

25
Submissions

ADVOCACY & LOBBYING PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE, RESEARCH & JOURNAL

MEMBERSHIP

COMMUNICATIONS

CPD

• Publication of Scope of 
Practice and Documentation 
Frameworks

• OTA’s key input into preparing 
for Australia’s future aged 
care and rural workforce

• Developing and highlighting 
the importance of 
occupation-focused practice

• Increased AOTJ impact factor

• OTA’s key input into the  
2018 Competencies for 
Occupational Therapists 
and to proposed changes  
to AHPRA standards and 
guidelines (CPD, Recency  
of Practice and Supervision)

• Ongoing consultation  
and activities in specific 
practice areas (mental health, 
environmental modifications, 
driving, paediatrics)

Overall membership grew  
by 27% from the previous year

Biggest growth category was  
New Graduates by 122%

OT student growth by 64% 
compared to previous year

03 06 09 0 120 150

27%

64%

122%

03 06 09 0 120 150

22%

150%

112%

Increased average social media 
growth by 22%

Increased average monthly social 
media engagement by 150%

Increased average monthly  
social media reach by 112%

Launched consumer website –  
aboutoccupationaltherapy.com.au

Special Interest 
Groups & Regional 
Interest Groups

Training 
Opportunities
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PRIORITY: Advocacy and lobbying 
through high-impact campaigns

• OTA was invited to give evidence at four 
public hearings as part of inquiries being 
undertaken into the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS). These hearings 
presented an opportunity to expand  
on the issues raised in our written 
submissions and speak directly to 
politicians about key concerns and 
recommendations.

• OTA’s joint lobbying efforts with other 
allied health peak bodies successfully 
delayed the introduction of a tiered 
pricing system for therapy services 
provided through the NDIS. A story on  
the proposed pricing changes, which  
OTA provided evidence in support  
of, appeared on the front page of  
The Australian on 11 June 2018.

• Increased engagement with the 
Department of Veterans’ Affairs (DVA) 
– OTA now meets regularly with senior  
DVA staff as part of our efforts to secure 
an increased rate of pay for OTs who 
provide services to veterans and war 
widows. The Association is also an active 
participant in the DVA Health Providers 
Partnership Forum. Discussions between 
OTA and DVA around adjustments to the 
existing fee schedule remain ongoing.

• OTA is a founding member of the 
National Assistive Technology Alliance 
(NATA), an alliance of organisations 
involved in the manufacture, provision, 
prescription and use of assistive 
technology.

INCREASING AWARENESS OF THE VALUE 
AND BENEFITS OF THE PROFESSION
Raising the profile of the value of occupation to meet diverse health, 
wellbeing and participation needs

• OTA had an abstract accepted for  
the 2017 National NDIS Mental Health 
Conference and presented an overview 
of presented an overview of the current 
barriers facing people with psychosocial 
disability in the NDIS and proposed 
solutions, as identified by consumers, 
carers and service providers. Following 
this, OTA was invited to submit a journal 
article on the same topic, which was 
published in the summer 2018 edition  
of newparadigm.

• OTA contributed to the review of  
the Oakden Older Persons Mental  
Health Service and South Australian 
Government Response. The review  
called for increased OT staffing in 
subsequent new model of care. OTA 
made representations relating to the 
environmental design of future facilities.

• OTA Represented our members in the 
Return to Work space, worked with Work 
Cover QLD CEO (Bruce Watson and his 
team) to challenge their current way  
of thinking. The Labour Government 
Minister Grace was involved along with 
several other key stakeholders, with  
the result being 7 more OT’s added  
to the Work Cover QLD preferred panel. 
The Work Cover engagement process  
was a great example of a collective team 
around the country coming together with 
its members to achieve a Submission to 
the State Insurance Regulatory Authority 
(SIRA) on the permanent impairment 
guidelines for the new Compulsory  
Third Party (CTP) scheme.

• OTA made a submission to the review  
of seclusion, restraint and observation  
of consumers with a mental illness in 
NSW Health facilities.

• The OTA 2018 SA state election campaign 
focussed on promoting a biopsychosocial 
model of care and improved investment 
in the allied health workforce to support 
the model.

PRIORITY: Enhance direct advocacy 
capability of members 

• OTA provided media training to  
members in volunteer roles within  
the organisation.

• Regular support was provided to 
members who were looking to or  
do undertake an advocacy activity. 

• OTA provided support to individual 
members who were approaching local 
members and ministers with regard to 
DVA funding.

PRIORITY: Influential and agile 
responses to policy reforms

• OTA secured a grant to support VicRoads 
to test the viability of proposed new  
OT On-Road Driver Assessment Testing 
Guidelines, resulting in significant 
changes to the guidelines in response  
to OT driving assessor feedback.  
A subsequent grant was secured for  
OTA to support OT Driving Assessors  
to implement the revised guidelines. 

• In response to the Victorian Office of 
Professional Practice (OPP) – Focus on 
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Continued next page

Restrictive Interventions, and particularly 
mechanical restraint, OTA convened  
a paediatric interest group with OPP 
representatives to explore what this 
means for OT practice. Subsequent OTA 
Vic working party established mid-2018  
to consider OTs best practice prescribing 
guidelines for devices, considering clinical 
decision-making and guidelines to 
reduce/eliminate mechanical restraint.

• OTA responded to the ACT government’s 
Inquiry into the implementation, 
performance and governance of the 
National Disability Insurance Scheme  
in the ACT. The Standing Committee  
on Health, Ageing and Community 
Services subsequently invited OTA  
to give evidence at a public hearing.

• In NSW the permanent impairment 
guidelines for the new Compulsory  
Third Party scheme were reviewed  
and feedback was submitted to the  
State Insurance Regulatory Authority. 
There was also submission to the review 
of seclusion, restraint and observation  
of consumers with a mental illness  
in NSW Health facilities.

• The WA Division was proactive in 
developing a comprehensive submission 
in the WA Health Sustainable Health 
Review during October 2017. Development 
of the submission included member 
consultation, participation at stakeholder 
events and Divisional Council input.  
The WA Division submission features  
four recommendations to enhance the 
WA Health system in a sustainable way. 

• In navigating the changes with the rollout 
to NDIS, the WA Division worked closely 
with the Procurement team, Disability 
Services at Department of Communities 

to assist streamlining the registration 
process and provide key pieces of advice 
and support to NDIS Interest Group  
in ensuring compliance.

• OTA contributed to the Developing 
Australian Aged Care Workforce Strategy 
Report, and as well as being a member  
of the panel at some of the wider external 
consultation events the Taskforce 
engaged in. 

• Heightened community awareness, 
understanding and recognition of the  
role of the profession through follow  
up of concern re: lack of naming of the 
profession of occupational therapists as 
eligible providers of Better Access service. 
OTA identified inaccuracy and inconsistency 
of Department websites, Better Access 
Telehealth Consumer and GP Information 
Sheets and undertook lobbying to 

held on Saturday 3 March. Ahead of  
the election, the Tasmanian Division of 
OTA wrote to the major parties seeking 
information and undertakings on issues 
of concern to our members.

• Improving access to care & enhancing 
recognition of role: OTA lobbying for 
therapists to provide enhanced services 
to eligible people in rural and remote 
locations came to fruition: people can 
claim Medicare rebates for occupational 
therapy video consultations provided 
through the Better Access to Mental 
Health initiative. 

• The Tasmanian Division sent 
correspondence to The Hon. Jeremy 
Rockliff MP regarding Funding for School 
Support Workers announced in 2017-18 
Tasmanian Budget. The correspondence 
highlighted the crucial role of occupational 

IMPROVING ACCESS TO CARE AND ENHANCING RECOGNITION OF 
ROLE: OTA LOBBYING FOR THERAPISTS TO PROVIDE ENHANCED 
SERVICES TO ELIGIBLE PEOPLE IN RURAL AND REMOTE LOCATIONS 
CAME TO FRUITION: PEOPLE CAN CLAIM MEDICARE REBATES FOR 
OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY VIDEO CONSULTATIONS PROVIDED 
THROUGH THE BETTER ACCESS TO MENTAL HEALTH INITIATIVE. 

facilitate correct recognition through 
nomenclature regarding occupational 
therapy’s active contribution in the  
Better Access space

• Ongoing Primary Health Tasmania liaison 
through Allied Health reference group and 
website links to education/ networking 

• The 2018 Tasmanian state election was 

therapists as an integral part of learning 
support teams for students with disability 
and special needs in schools, bringing  
a unique and specialised perspective  
to maximising participation in the 
curriculum when students encounter 
barriers to their learning. 
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PRIORITY: Enhance OTA policy 
through Consumer engagement

• Members of the ACT divisional  
council had an opportunity to  
promote occupational therapy  
to the Women Veterans Network  
ACT at their wellness seminar.

• Occupational therapists in regional NSW 
participated in an event – “Loud Shirt 
Fairy Floss Friday” with an aim to raise 
awareness of mental health.

• As part of OTA’s ongoing commitment  
to increasing the awareness and 
understanding of occupational therapy 
we launched our new consumer website 
aboutoccupationaltherapy.com.au 
during OT Week. This was supported  
by a train signage campaign in Sydney 
and Melbourne.

PRIORITY: Embedded cultural 
diversity through recognition  
nd inclusion 

• The Board established a working  
group to develop a Reflective RAP 

• OTA introduced the inclusion of  
a welcome to country in all Board  
and Board Committee meetings and 
encourages all OTA committees that 
meet to include this in their agendas. 

• Establishment of the Research Fellow 
(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) 

• Members of OTA staff and Board were  
in attendance at the WFOT Congress  
in Cape Town. 

PRIORITY: Heightened community 
awareness, understanding and 
recognition of the role of the profession

• OTA is a valued stakeholder with several 
peak bodies. 

– SafeWork NSW invited representatives 
to participate in consultative groups 
various projects and meetings. 

– Director of Engagement for NSW 
Central NDIS invited OTA to meet  
on a regular basis to address NDIS 
issues in NSW. 

– Palliative Care Australia Incorporated 
invited OTA to a roundtable to discuss 
the workforce and skills-mix required 
to deliver quality palliative care within 
aged care services. 

– An experienced occupational therapist 
sits on the NSW Witness Intermediary 
Registration Panel which was 
established in response to issues 
raised around child sexual abuse and 
the barriers and trauma children face 
when going through the criminal 
justice process. 

• During 2016-17 OTA has regenerated  
its link to the Tasmanian Allied Health 
Professional Advancement Committee, 
supporting allied health professionals 
through annual awards and the biennial 
AHP Symposium during.

• Active involvement with Primary Health 
Tasmania (Primary Health Network) is 
ongoing, with representation on Allied 
Health committee and working towards 

increased awareness of OT contribution 
to primary healthcare. OTA worked with 
both Primary Health Tasmania and the 
NDIS to promote relevant events to 
therapists and also promoted webinars 
and hosted workshop The Business of 
Allied Health in the NDIS and Beyond 

• OTA were part of an Environmental 
Modifications steering committee  
looking at the potential contribution  
the development of a national quality 
management standard for home 
modifications could make to the sector  
in 2017, and our representatives continue 
to be part of this initiative. 

• OTA were asked, along with a range  
of other professional associations,  
to provide feedback in an E-Mental 
Health Consultations focus group setting 
on interactive, online e-tools that will 
support Australians who are experiencing 
any issues at all with their mental health 
and wellbeing to find and access 
supportive advice and services relevant 
to their needs. As representatives of the 
professions the focus group were able  
to work together provide suggestions for 
improvement in both design and in the 
advice and support given.

• OTA presented at the National NDIS and 
Mental Health conference in November 
2017. to a mixed audience of consumers, 
planners, NDIA staff and health 
professionals on the potential of 
occupational therapy to make a 
difference to consumers’ participation 
goals within the mental health sector.

INCREASING AWARENESS OF THE VALUE  
AND BENEFITS OF THE PROFESSION
Continued from previous page
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DIVISION HIGHLIGHTS
• Our NT Division held the first ever 

Facebook Live event with National 
Manager, Government and Stakeholder 
Relations Michael Barrett. Michael spoke 
to more than 20 attendees in Darwin 
about all things lobbying and advocacy 
whilst our followers around the country 
were able to view online. 

• A Victorian member organised a fabulous 
OT Week feature in Bendigo Weekly.

• SA Members celebrated OT Week at ‘The 
Secret Garden – Come to your Senses’ 
dinner which aimed to highlight how 
spending time in nature benefits health. 

• A Victorian OT and Yoga Instructor,  
led a wonderful 2-hour session for OTs 
celebrating OT Week.

• The WA Division launched OT week  
2017 with a Community Breakfast.  
At the Independent Living Centre  
(ILC), Nedlands; this breakfast event 
showcased to over 70 occupational 
therapists, students, allied health and 
community members of all abilities the 
role of occupational therapy within the 
field of assistive technology and virtual 
reality. A collaboration with Technology 
Assisting Disability WA (TADWA) 
showcased new innovations in virtual 
reality and gave everyone a chance  
to have a go.

• NSW and ACT celebrated with OT Week 
Breakfast events. 
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2017 NATIONAL CONFERENCE 
AND EXHIBITION

129 
students

291 
speakers

800 OTA members 190 Non 
members

abstract  
submissions

680

RECORD NUMBER

OTA’s 2017 National Conference was 
the biggest ever event hosted by the 
Association. 
We would like to offer our sincere gratitude  
to the many speakers, delegates, volunteers, 
exhibitors and sponsors who, through their 
tireless energy and enthusiasm, made the 
Conference an overwhelming success. 

An overview of some of the Conference 
highlights is presented below.

12  
media releases

87
exhibition 

booths

77 
organisations  

exhibiting  
across

34 
first time 

exhibitors

13
organisations 
sponsoring 
including Gold, 
Silver, Bronze (x2)

320
oral  
presentations  
held over 
3 days

202 
ePosters

Australia
Austria

Cambodia
Hong Kong

Ireland
Japan

Kuwait

Mauritius
New Zealand

Singapore
South Korea

United Arab Emirates
USA

Vietnam

14 
Countries

supporting
organisations  
 

105

RECORD NUMBER
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OT Week 2017 was held from 22nd – 28th 
October to coincide with World OT Day  
on the 27th October. During OT Week 2017 
we introduced a fresh new look for the 
‘Reach your pOTential’ theme and provided 
members with a suite of downloadable 
resources to help promote and celebrate  
OT Week. 

As part of OTA’s ongoing commitment  
to increasing the awareness and 
understanding of occupational therapy  
we launched our new consumer website 
aboutoccupationaltherapy.com.au  
during OT Week. This was supported  
by a train signage campaign in Sydney  
and Melbourne.  This site will be continuously updated with 

relevant information, so please share ideas 
with us regarding how we can expand its 
reach and value.

There were over 30 OT Week events registered 
with OTA this year and we were delighted  
to see all the different ways our members 
and the community participated from yoga 
sessions, dinners and Facebook live events to 
hospital tours, interviews and morning teas. 

Thank you to everyone who made OT Week 
2017 such a success!

OT WEEK 2017

OTA’s National Manager of Government and 
Stakeholder Relations, Michael Barrett, was 
pleased to be able to spend time in Darwin 
to support OT week in the NT. Three events 
were planned including a function at 
Darwin’s famous Mindil Beach night market, 
a question and answer session with OTs 
based at Royal Darwin Hospital which was 
streamed on Facebook Live for those OTs 
working in other parts of the Northern 
Territory, and a working dinner at a Darwin 
restaurant at which issues of concern to NT 
members were identified and discussed.  
All events were very well attended and 
helped raise the profile of the association 
among occupational therapists working  
in particularly challenging conditions.

OTs in the Northern Territory face unique 
challenges. One member encountered this 
while measuring a bathroom for grab rails.

#spOToursigns in Melbourne #spOToursigns in Sydney

Reach your
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Linda Elliott and presenter Catherine Andrew 
at the NSW OT Week Breakfast

Tasmanian Health Service celebrated with a fantastic 
‘Reach your pOTential’ cake

Jess, Emma and Derek from Healthstrong celebrated OT Week with a morning tea

VIC Member Lynne Cooper, continued her tradition of 
supporting OTWeek by organising a fabulous OT Week 
Feature in Bendigo Weekly.

OT Week 2017 was celebrated near and far. 
Joanne Cairney is currently working with AVI in the 
Solomon Islands where she hosted an open day and 
encouraged hospital staff to learn more about OT.

The Australian Paediatric Occupational 
Therapists Facebook Group, run by Cindy 
Chan and Anna Meadows, held a week of 
online celebrations including discussions, 
interactive surveys, ‘spotlight’ interviews  
and giveaways.
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PRIORITY: Supported entrepreneurship 
and emerging practice areas. 

• OTA supported a number of emerging 
practice areas: use of Nordic walking 
poles, emergency mental health,  
support for refugee’s and foetal  
alcohol syndrome. 

PRIORITY: Supported existing  
practice areas

• Mara Sheldon delivered anxiety 
management for palliative care and 
progressive disorders in 5 states around 
Australia. Mara’s practise focuses on 
supporting people who have palliative 
care needs or a progressive condition. 
Her training covered ways to utilise 
yourself as a therapeutic tool to foster 
trust and promote change, physical 
management activities and practical 
cognitive management techniques 
alongside the Occupational Therapy 
MOHO model. 

• The Association has been actively 
engaging members through its Interest 
Groups. These groups play an important 
role in enabling OTs to share their 
experience and expert knowledge  
in key areas of interest that affect the 
profession. We have Interest Groups in 
both metropolitan and regional areas.

• Interest groups in NSW and ACT met 
regularly covering the practice areas  
of private practice, paediatrics, driving, 
medico-legal and neurology. New groups 
were established in 2017 for occupational 
rehabilitation, home modifications.  

PROMOTING A UNIFIED PROFESSION 
FOR SUSTAINABLE FUTURES
Facilitating present and future capability and capacity of the profession  
to reach its potential

The ACT interest group for therapists  
new to practice in the ACT demonstrated 
continued growth with interest from  
new graduates as well as experienced 
therapists new to Canberra.

• The OTA Mental Health Forum 2017 was 
held in Sydney on 27 October. We had  
a record number of 276 delegates from  
all states of Australia and one delegate 
from South Africa. The program consisted  
of 49 oral presentations and 4 poster 
displays [58 abstract submissions].  
High quality presentations spanned  
from neonatal to older people’s  
mental health and highlighted the 
ever-increasing diversity of mental  
health practice areas that occupational 
therapists are working within. 

• Occupational therapists at various  
stages of their careers converged in 
Adelaide for National Private Practice 
Symposium. There were 147 delegates  
in attendance from around the country 
who participated in keynote plenary  
and concurrent sessions over the 2 days. 
Topics included marketing, finance, 
human resources, ethics, risk and 
compliance and service innovation. 
Speakers were invited from many  
large organisations to provide insight, 
strategy and tips on private practice.  
A true highlight for delegates was the 
opportunity to network and openly 
discuss the challenges they are  
being faced with in private practice – 
made more enjoyable over glasses of 
prosecco on the balcony while watching 
the sunset!

• The journal had a focus knowledge 
translation please see page 21 for report 
from Editior in Chief, Professor Anne 
Cusick on the AOTJ.

PRIORITY: Continued expansion of 
research capability in the profession 

• OTA Awarded Direct Gift Recipient (DGR) 
research grants with the aim, to generate 
new research knowledge relevant to 
occupational therapy practice; and 
secondly, to support the research 
capacity and career development of 
Australian occupational therapists. 

• OTA contiues to award to Judith 
Marsham Farrell research grant. 

• For further information on research 
please see page 20 for a report from Gail 
Whiteford, Chair Research Foundation. 

PRIORITY: Enhanced excellence in 
practice through provision of evidence 
informed, reflective professional 
development and practice standards

• 90 workshops, with 1839 registrations, 
were delivered across Australia supporting 
both rural and metro members. 
Workshops have been consistently  
well received with environmental 
modification, NDIS and foundation  
skills being the most sought after. 

• The Competency-based Framework  
to develop OT Advanced Practice roles 
project was led by the Victoria Workforce 
& Professional Issues Committee. 

Continued next page
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Enabled via a Grant from the OT Trust 
Fund. Project Officer, Muriel Cummins, 
and Committee members worked with 
OTA member clinical-practice focused 
working groups to develop credentialing 
documents for four identified areas of 
Palliative Care, Paediatrics, Neurology 
and Aged/Complex Care. An additional 
credentialing document was developed 
for an advanced practice driving role,  
and work continues to develop tools  
to support the Framework documents. 

• OTA provided a total of 71 webinars 
across the year, 41 of these going on  
to be made available in our CPD library. 
All live webinars are made available to 

• In 2017/2018 OTA worked with the 
Medicare Provider Team to seek 
clarification about Focussed 
Psychological Strategies (FPS) and their 
application to support occupational 
therapists in practice. Whilst it is 
recognised that the FPS provide broad 
umbrella categories, OTA provided 
practice support and clarification to 
practitioners about working within 
BAMH; continued the development of 
information to support OT practice and 
worked to inform the public and referrers 
regarding the profession’s efficacy and 
approach in this space.

The award aims at assisting comparatively 
fresh graduates to look to the future and 
further their studies in a particular area  
of Occupational Therapy practice. 

• There has been significant growth over 
the past year in our student and new 
graduate categories and these two 
categories now represent 39% of our 
entire member base and we know from 
ANZCOTE data that student numbers will 
continue to grow. Employing a digital 
engagement specialist is one of the  
ways we are working to ensure that our 
membership approach is contemporary 
and engages this fast-growing 
demographic. During the National 
Conference in Perth, WA Division hosted  
a Student Careers Forum providing over 
70 students with a unique opportunity  
to hear from expert employer panels, 
learn how to build you professional 
profile in the digital age and how to  
build partnerships and rapport with 
industry suppliers. 

• The WA Division are familiar faces to the 
students across Curtin University and 
Edith Cowan University with presentation 
to first year and GEM students and 
exhibitor tables at Curtin Guild O Day!  
OTA recognises the student volunteers 
who support the WA Division through 
volunteering at events such as OT week 
community launch, Assistive Technology 
Suppliers Australasia (ATSA) expo, 
student events, National Conference  
and Exhibition and Opens Days.

• In 2017 the QLD Division invested in 
significant University engagement across 
all cohorts, this included workshops,  
to all year levels, faculty engagement to 
understand what and how OTA can help 
as well as events and awards. As a result, 
QLD student membership has increased 
by close to 500%.

A PROJECT OF THE DIVISIONAL COUNCIL – “CONNECTING WITH 
STUDENTS” HAS ENGAGED A STAFF MEMBER AT EACH UNIVERSITY 
CAMPUS IN ACT AND NSW TO BE THE UNIVERSITY CHAMPION TO 
ENGAGE STUDENTS IN THE PROFESSION. OTA SUPPORT PROJECTS 
AND PRESENTATIONS ON EACH CAMPUS.

PROMOTING A UNIFIED PROFESSION  
FOR SUSTAINABLE FUTURES 
Continued from previous page

registrants for 3 weeks post the session 
providing the flexibility for members to 
listen with the presenter, post the session 
or both. We had 4977 registrants for 
online CPD across the year (webinars, 
CPD library and eLearning opportunities). 

• OTA was on the advisory group for  
the new Competency Standards, from 
2015-2018. The new standards were 
launched this year and consist of four key 
domains – Professionalism, Knowledge 
and Learning, Occupational Therapy 
Process and Practice, and Communication, 
and are designed for all occupational 
therapists, not just new graduates. 

PRIORITY: Engagement with our 
future generations of the profession 
through support of students and  
new graduates

• A project of the ACT and NSW Divisional 
Council – “Connecting with students”  
has engaged a staff member at each 
university campus in ACT and NSW  
to be the university champion to  
engage students in the profession.  
OTA support projects and presentations 
on each campus.

• OTA awarded the Elspeth Pearson Award, 
this year was the third offering this award. 
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• In 2017 South Australian students and 
new graduates were ably supported by 
Council members in representing current 
and prospective student member needs. 
A survey of SA new graduates was 
undertaken which identified that the 
most frequently reported benefit of OTA 
membership was “networking with other 
OT students and practicing OTs”, along 
with providing more opportunities that 
would prepare and facilitate their entry 
into the OT profession (e.g. networking, 
workshops and job seeking skills 
development). 

• The SA final year student event 
developed and implemented by students 
involved a 45 minute facilitated panel 
discussion covering the practice domains 
of aged care, mental health, rehabilitation, 
regional practice and paediatrics 
followed Q&A and informal networking. 
The evening was attended by 50 final 
year students from Flinders and UniSA 
and supported by senior members  
of the Association. 

• In Mentorlink a broader approach 
continued to encourage mentees to 
develop a range of supports to assist with 
personal and professional development. 
Participants were referred to relevant 
special interest groups, communities of 
practice, on line resources, education 
and CPD sessions, as part of a broader 
professional development approach  
for members.

PRIORITY: Engaged participation of 
mid and advanced career members 
from varied sectors 

• The OT in Schools Working party was 
developed to consider issues related  
to OT service provision for students in 
Victorian Schools. Work has included  

a scan of current OT practice in Victorian 
schools via the Victorian Paediatric 
Interest group, meetings with Victoria 
Department of Education and Training 
Directors, and subject matter expert 
contribution to support a DET Inclusive 
Education Grant project. The working 
party is currently working to develop  
a resource to illustrate the value of  
OT within the context of the Victorian 
Government’s new Student Support 
Services Framework, and to lobby the 
state government and opposition prior  
to at the upcoming state election to 
remove barriers to OT service provision 
for students in Victorian Government 
schools.

• Recognising that people move in and  
out of practice and that needs vary 
throughout the career pathway, we have 
developed ways to support those both 
relatively new (but experienced in Mental 
Health) to BAMH practice, through to 
those re-entering BAMH (after time  
away from practice) through enhanced 
information about the cancellation and 
reactivation process and ways to support 
best practice.

IN 2017 QLD DIVISION INVESTED IN SIGNIFICANT UNIVERSITY 
ENGAGEMENT ACROSS ALL COHORTS, THIS INCLUDED 
WORKSHOPS, TO ALL YEAR LEVELS, FACULTY ENGAGEMENT TO 
UNDERSTAND WHAT AND HOW OTA CAN HELP AS WELL AS EVENTS 
AND AWARDS. AS A RESULT, QLD STUDENT MEMBERSHIP HAS 
INCREASED BY CLOSE TO 500%.
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ACT/NSW DIVISION
2017 STUDENT AWARD WINNERS
Rachel Cavanagh Australian Catholic University Student Prize for Excellence in Professional Practice

Sarah Neil Charles Sturt University Student Prize for Excellence in Professional Practice

Luke Fullwood University of Newcastle Student Prize for Excellence in Professional Practice

Chelsea Valentin University of Sydney Student Prize for Excellence in Professional Practice

Tricia Rooney (MOT) University of Sydney Student Prize for Excellence in Professional Practice

Monisha Ingold Western Sydney University Student Prize for Excellence in Professional Practice

Sarah Kaminski University of Canberra Student practitioner of the year

Jessica Grove University of Canberra Student engagement with the profession

NT DIVISION
Andrew Congdon OT of the NT Award

QLD DIVISION
Sally Bennett 2017 Mary Rankine Award

2017 STUDENT AWARD WINNERS
Kirsty Jeneve Healing James Cook University Judith Rabbitt Award

Carla Dominica Littlefield James Cook University Judith Trevan Hawke Award

Kirsty Jeneve Healing James Cook University Prof Michele Clark Award

Kirsty Jackson University of Queensland Jenny Strong Award

Stephanie Lloyd University of Queensland Mary Rankine Wilson Student Award

Cody Gould University of Queensland Sara Philcox Award

Bree Farley University of Queensland Sylvia Rodger Award

Dimitra Solomon University of the Sunshine Coast Undergrad Student Academic

Madison Matthews University of the Sunshine Coast Undergrad Student Diligence

Bridie Kean University of the Sunshine Coast Postgrad Student

Xanthia Blundell University of the Sunshine Coast Undergraduate Research Award

Ruby Ryan Southern Cross University The Occupational Therapy Australia QLD Division Prize  
for Academic Excellence

Katherine Stewart Central University of Queensland Monica Moran Student Prize (CQU) in Occupational Therapy

Karla Graham Central University of Queensland Occupational Therapy Australia Student Prize (CQU)  
in Occupational Therapy

AWARDS
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Continued next page

SA DIVISION AWARDS 
Elizabeth Humphris Williams OT Innovative Service Delivery Award

Lydia Ksiazkiewicz The Back Centre Significant Contribution to the Profession

2017 STUDENT AWARD WINNERS
Emily Hoff University of South Australia Undergraduate Research and Evidence Based Practice Prize

Tianna Ceravolo Flinders University Occupational Therapy Australia – South Australian Division Award

VIC DIVISION
Kimberley Hyslop Deakin University New Graduand Award for Clinical Fieldwork Excellence 2017

Alexandra Maree Attwood-Geaney Monash University New Graduand Award for Clinical Fieldwork Excellence 2017

Jessica Archer Monash University Occupational Therapy Australia, Pamela Kirke Memorial Award  
for Clinical Fieldwork Excellence

WA DIVISION
Ashleigh Bunce Innovators in Practice Award

2017 STUDENT AWARD WINNERS
Amy Buckingham Sponsor: Dux, Occupational Therapy Honours Degree ECU 

Daina Dickins Curtin University Dux, Master of Occupational Therapy Curtin University

ELSPETH PEARSON AWARD
Nataya Brandjerporn (To implement the LEAP Programme over 3 trial sites in Kolkota, India)

Amy Elson (To complete Level 1 Lymphoedema training)

Thi Hoang Yen Le (To complete PD on Pain and Graded Motor Imagery)

Sumanalatha (Sue) Maney (To attend the Custodial Health Conference and the 4th Australian Forensics Forum)



20 www.otaus.com.au

OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY AUSTRALIA 
RESEARCH FOUNDATION

Over the last year OTARF has focussed 
on consolidation: streamlining our 
grant review and awarding processes 

as well as developing a standard process 
through which members can seek to partner 
with OTA on research related projects. We 
are also pursuing a new Donor Strategy 
aimed at building the funds available 
occupational therapy researchers.

Grant Awardees
In the last year, grants were given to the 
following recipients:

In 2017, the Research Foundation awarded 
the following DGR grants:

• Tammy Palin, UQ: “Further Development 
of the Dimensions of Home Measure 
(DOHM).”

• Linda Barclay, Monash University, 
Victoria: “The contribution of hospital-
based occupational therapy service 
provision for older people with chronic 
medical conditions and effect on future 
readmissions.”

• Chontel Gibson, University of Sydney: 
“Culburra (To understand).”

• Tamara Tso, St Vincent’s Hospital, 
Melbourne: “Enhancing activity 
participation through implementation  
of environmental enrichment strategies 
on a Geriatric Evaluation and 
Management unit.”

Judith Marsham Farrell Research Grant
• Nikki Tulliani Western Sydney 

University and Karen Liu Western 
Sydney University: A computer-based 
cognitive rehabilitation program to 
improve cognition and delay deterioration 
in occupational performance in older 
people with mild cognitive impairment 
(MCI) and mild dementia.

Profile
Consistent with the need to diversify  
the funding base of the Foundation is the 
need to have an enhanced “outward facing” 
profile of occupational therapy research  
and researchers. Over the next year our  
aim is to develop our website to reflect the 
diversity of occupational therapy research 
and the contribution of this research to 
stakeholder groups.

Academy
OTARF works with the Academy to advance 
the research capability of members and 
provide the intellectual capital, or “brains 
trust” to advise OTA on all matters related  
to research. Current activities undertaken 
conjointly between OTARF and OTARA 
include:

• The development of a Register of Experts 
in research and practice for OTA to utilise 
in instances relating to, for example, 
media requests/comment

• Commenced the awards of the process 
for the next round of Fellows of OTARA 
who will be conferred at a ceremony at 
National Conference in Sydney in 2019

• And, speaking of National Conference,  
as a committee we look forward to 
collegial interactions with members there 
next year. Look for a satchel insert from 
us outlining how you can work with us  
to enhance the research capability of 
Occupational Therapy Australia now  
and in the future.

Prepared by Professor Gail Whiteford, Chair OTA Research Foundation. 
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AUSTRALIAN OCCUPATIONAL 
THERAPY JOURNAL
Prepared by Professor Anne Cusick, Editor in Chief.

The AUSOJT is the official publication of 
OTA. The Editor-in-Chief is appointed 
by the OTA Board and from July 2017 

to June 2018 this was Professor Anne Cusick, 
Fellow of the OTA Research Academy, Sylvia 
Docker Lecturer of 2001, Chair of Occupational 
Therapy at the University of Sydney, and 
Emeritus Professor of Western Sydney 
University. She is in her fourth year  
of her tenure as Editor in Chief.

Measures of achievement
The journal continued improvement  
in bibliometric performance indicators 
reported in the JCR Metrics 2017. These  
are lag indicators representing cumulative 
achievements of the years preceding. Thus 
these indicators represent achievements 
from 2016-2017 and 2012 to 2017. The 
sustained upward trajectory is notable.

• The two year impact factor increased 
from 1.6 in 2016 to 1.623 in 2017.

• Importantly, the rehabilitation journal 
rank (rank 1 = highest) jumped from  
35 in 2015 to 28 in 2016 out of a total  
of 65 and has increased again to 26  
out of 65 in 2017.

• The immediacy index is now the  
highest of all occupational therapy 
indexed journals.

Internationally, of all indexed occupational 
therapy journals in 2016 and again in 2017 
(the most recent indicator available) it is 
second only to the American Journal of 
Occupational Therapy in two and five year 
impact factors.

Each regular issue of the Journal has been 
produced on time. The Special Issue to 
commemorate the contribution of Professor 
Sylvia Rodger AM was produced as a  
special supplement issue and released  
at the 2017 OTA National Conference.  
The Conference Journal issue was  
produced as a special supplement.

Publication Operations
The publication contract with Wiley  
was renewed in 2017. The Wiley values 
proposition, their focus on professional 
societies, continuing professional 
development services for journal editorial 
board members and their author/reviewer 
online resources make them a good fit  
for OTA.

2017-2018 Projects and representation
Revised Author Guidelines Implementation 
Project 2017-2018: Project lead – Editor  
in Chief Cusick. Adherence to author 
guidelines released January 2017 requires 
continuing author support in the area of  
key word selection, provision of author 
information, referencing, and formatting  
of supplementary material.

Revised Viewpoint Guidelines 
Implementation 2017-2018: Project lead – 
Associate Editor McKinstry. Management 
and streamlining of the Expression of 
Interest Process and author liaison.

Special Issue Measurement in Occupational 
Therapy: Project lead –Associate Editor 

IMPORTANTLY, THE REHABILITATION JOURNAL RANK (RANK 1 = 
HIGHEST) JUMPED FROM 35 IN 2015 TO 28 IN 2016 OUT OF A TOTAL 
OF 65 AND HAS INCREASED AGAIN TO 26 OUT OF 65 IN 2017.

Editorial Board membership 2017-2018:
The Editor in Chief is Professor Anne Cusick 
(also acts as the Editorials Department 
Editor). Associate Editors are: Professor 
Louise Gustafsson, Associate Professor Ted 
Brown, Associate Professor Helen Bourke-
Taylor (Special Issue Editor), Associate 
Professor Reinie Cordier, Associate Professor 
Genevieve Pepin, Associate Professor Sally 
Bennett, Dr Kate Laver (Department Editor 
Critically Appraised papers) and Dr Carol 
McKinstry (Department Editor Viewpoints).

Continued next page

Helen Bourke-Taylor. Submission review 
assistance provided by Associate Editors 
Brown and Cordier. Due for publication 
Issue 5 in 2018

Writing and Reviewing for Publication 
Workshop at the QLD-NT 2018 Conference: 
Project Lead – Associate Editor Louise 
Gustafsson. At the invitation of conference 
organisers the biennial Editorial Board 
workshop was presented in adapted form 
for this state conference.
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AOTJ representation at WFOT, Cape Town 
May 2018: Lead – Editor Anne Cusick.  
A meeting of all editors of occupational 
therapy journals was held convened by 
WFOT Bulletin Editor and Past President  
Kit Sinclair. Three items of business were 
presented by AOTJ – benchmarking of 
practice, core set of indexed key words, 
benchmarking of bibliometric indicators.  
All items were supported and projects to 
follow-up in train. The journal presence at 
the Booth promoted the link between the 
association and the journal.

AOTJ representation as ex-officio  
member OTARF Lead – Editor Anne Cusick. 
Active participant in 2017-2018 OTARF 
meetings, reviews, decisions and activities. 
Recommendation to permit an Editor in 
Chief nominee in OTARF membership for 
2018-2019 and beyond to enable distributed 
leadership and succession opportunities. 
Recommendation supported by OTARF.

AOTJ representation for ANZCOTE standing 
item report (the Australia New Zealand 
Council of Occupational Therapy Educators): 
Lead – Editor Anne Cusick. Presenter at 
ANZCOTE meetings, decisions and activities. 
Recommendation to enable an Editorial 
Board nominee for ex-officio associated 
‘membership’ of ANZCOTE for 2018-2019 
and beyond to enable distributed leadership 
and succession opportunities. Supported  
by Editorial Board and advised to ANZCOTE.

AOTJ Editor in Chief membership on 
Cochrane Rehabilitation Steering Committee: 
Member Editor Anne Cusick – personal 
invitation. As part of membership able to 
promote the AOTJ on an international stage 

with regard to knowledge dissemination  
and knowledge translation activities as they 
relate to Cochrane goals.

AOTJ Social media profile: Project lead 
Associate Editor Louise Gustafsson. Twitter 
account set up, regular twitter releases 
relating to issues, monitoring of followers.

AOTJ Connections Column: Project Lead 
Editor Anne Cusick. Column launch Issue  
1 of 2018. Editorial Board members each 
prepare informative short article on topic of 
interest to general membership. Topics and 
authors coordinated by Editor Cusick with 
OTA liaison through OTA Editorial Project 
Officer Jacinta Borilovic.

Kryss McKenna Award: Selection panel leads 
Associate Editors Gustafsson and Bennett. 
This biennial award was given to Mary Smith, 
Occupational Therapist and OTA member  
at the 2017 OTA National Conference.

Acknowledgements
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the material to continue to reach the world 
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Continued from previous page
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POSITIONING THE ASSOCIATION 
FOR SUSTAINABLE FUTURES

PRIOIRITY: Valued membership 
services and benefits to facilitate 
membership growth, engagement and 
satisfaction and financial sustainability 
for the Association

• In the past year, across all our membership 
categories we have grown to over 9100 
members, which is up 27% from the 
previous year. Furthermore, our 
membership (excluding students) now 
represents 32% of all Australian Health 
Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) 
registered occupational therapists, which 
is up from 29% from the previous year.

• The WA Division formalised a partnership 
and ongoing working relationship with 
Developmental Occupational Therapy 
WA. Whilst the two associations have 
been working closely for quite some 
time, it was a great sign to our members 
that we formally recognised this through 
a Memorandum of Understanding and 
provide greater linkages with members  
to various services offered by each.

• An inspiring presentation – “Occupational 
Therapy: Opportunities, Challenges  
and Rewards” was delivered at the ACT 
breakfast celebrating OT Week which  
was well attended by local therapists. 
 In NSW OT week was also celebrated 
with a breakfast and the annual division 
meeting attracted many members to 
discuss experiences of the introduction  
of NDIS in NSW.

• NSW introduced a New Graduate half- 
day workshop – offered with sponsorship 
support to bring graduates together to 
consider topics such as professional 
resilience in the first year/s of practice 

Ensuring present and future capability and capacity of the Association

and the implementation of supervision 
arrangements for graduates. Responding 
to increasing variability of service delivery 
models and supervision structures  
for graduates.

PRIORITY: Expanded National and 
International relationship to enhance 
practice and services to members  
in Australia 

• The OTA Scope of Practice documents 
have been used by our international 
colleagues. 

• There has been a noted increased 
attendance at the National Conference 
from international speakers and 
delegates 

• Two international speakers provided  
CPD across Australia 

PRIORITY: Continued enhanced 
governance leadership and capacity for 
contemporary Association leadership

• Health Leadership was the theme 
underpinning the WA Division ADM  

in September 2017 as the Division 
celebrated the year’s achievements  
and also thanked long standing council 
members and previous Chairs Jeannine 
Millsteed and Thelma Burnett. Attendees 
were inspired to celebrate everything, 
understand what’s important to you, 
reflect on your failures and learn from 
them, and importantly know that other 
will often recognise your leadership skills 
before you do…trust them.

• The Leadership Interest Group –  
led by the Victorian Workforce Issues 
Committee was reviewed and 
regenerated. The new focus of this 
interest group is the development of 
leadership skills and peers support to 
enable OTs to respond effectively to 
policy and impact of policy reforms. 

• OTA administers the WFOT Programme 
Accreditation Committee, with the 
support of 5 volunteers who give their 
time to review Australian occupational 
therapy education programme 
curriculum to ensure it is line with  

AN INSPIRING PRESENTATION – “OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY: 
OPPORTUNITIES, CHALLENGES AND REWARDS” WAS DELIVERED 
AT THE ACT BREAKFAST CELEBRATING OT WEEK WHICH WAS WELL 
ATTENDED BY LOCAL THERAPISTS. IN NSW OT WEEK WAS ALSO 
CELEBRATED WITH A BREAKFAST AND THE ANNUAL DIVISION 
MEETING ATTRACTED MANY MEMBERS TO DISCUSS EXPERIENCES 
OF THE INTRODUCTION OF NDIS IN NSW.

Continued next page
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the WFOT Minimum Standards for 
Educational Programmes. 13 programmes 
were reviewed through 2017-2018.

PRIORITY: Efficient structures within 
OTA enable consistent and equitable 
services across the country 

• OTA’s new Documentation Framework, 
which explains the different documents 
we commission (for example, Position 
Statements, Issues Papers, Submissions, 
Media Releases), and the processes we 
use to commission these documents, 
was published on our website in 
February 2018. If you have a burning 
issue you think lends itself to a Position 
Statement or Issues Paper, this document 
explains how you go about raising this.

• With time and geographic differences, 
our members are seeking more flexible 
on-demand member benefits. As a result 
of this, OTA has focussed on ensuring 
equity of services by providing more 
digital and online resources and tools 
that can be accessed anytime from 
anywhere. 

• We updated our Find an OT search tool to 
allow users to search for BAMH-endorsed 
occupational therapists who provide 
services via telehealth. A new category 
titled ‘Better Access to Mental Health – 
Telehealth’ has been added to the 
Approved Provider dropdown list.

PRIORITY: Investment in culture,  
staff and volunteer workforce of  
OTA to enrichen engagement, 
participation and capacity 

• From August – October 2017, final  
year Australian Catholic University 
occupational therapy student Rachel 
Cavanagh completed a one day per  
week project placement within the 
Practice and Standards portfolio.  
Rachel completed a literature review on 
occupational therapists’ attitudes and 
development needs regarding e-mental 
health platforms, her work will be used  
to inform future practice development  
in this area at OTA. 

• The Queensland Division has invited  
a student volunteer to attend our CPD 
workshops to help with their experience 
of working with OT’s

• Formal constitution of the SA 
Compensable Schemes Working Party,  
a sub-group of the Occupational Health 
and Rehab special interest group, 
specifically to represent members 
working in compensable schemes.  
The working party reports back to  
the OH&R special interest group.

• The SA Division has implemented a 
formal member feedback process via  
the SA Divisional Council page on the SA 
Division webpage. Including the release 

of quarterly Council Communiques  
in response to member requests.

• ACT/NSW Staff and Divisional Council 
members engage with university 
communities through attendance at 
university award ceremonies sand 
graduations. Presentations on various 
aspects of the occupational therapy 
profession and association are delivered 
at university campus and by the use of 
technology. Representatives of OTA are 
participants in university external 
advisory boards.

POSITIONING THE ASSOCIATION  
FOR SUSTAINABLE FUTURES
Continued from previous page
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INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS
World Federation of Occupational 
Therapists Delegate’s Report  
2017-2018
In 2017-18, members who represented  
OTA at the international level were:

• Lynette Mackenzie: WFOT Delegate,  
Vice President of the Asia Pacific  
Regional Group

• Adam Lo: 1st Alternate Delegate

• Lee Zakrzewski: 2nd Alternate Delegate

Lynette Mackenzie has participated in 
representing Australia in several projects 
and the development and review of WFOT 
position papers. Lynette is the Deputy 
program co-ordinator for Research and 
co-leads ongoing research activities  
on behalf of WFOT. Adam Lo and Lee 
Zakrezewski participate in the Practice 
Development program area and are 
involved in several projects identified  
at the last Council Meeting. Adam is also  
one of three members of the Asia Pacific 
Regional Group who are putting together  
an annual newsletter for the Region to  
align with World Health Organisation  
(WHO) projects in the region. 

Lynette Mackenzie responds to requests for 
information and assistance from the WFOT 
Executive, OTA and individual occupational 
therapists who seek connections in other 
countries and for those seeking information 
about coming to Australia. Adam Lo submits 
WFOT reports for OTA Connections and 
keeps members up to date with upcoming 
events and issues disseminated by WFOT. 
Lee Zakrezewski continues with her roles 
the Practice Development program area.

While not representing OTA, Marilyn 
Pattison, a member of OTA is the President 
of WFOT. She continues to provide 
professional leadership at an international 

level to WFOT through her extensive 
knowledge and expertise in occupational 
therapy. Marilyn was re-elected to the 
President’s position at the Council Meeting 
in Cape Town in May 2018. Marilyn leads  
the executive management team and  
has effective relationships with many 
international organisations, especially the 
WHO, where WFOT is represented on many 
specific issues. Samantha Shann (UK) was 
re-elected as the Vice President Finance, 
and Ritchard Ledgerd (UK) was re-elected  
as Executive Director. Sue Baptiste (Canada) 
stood down as Vice-President and Margarita 
Gonzalez (Columbia) was elected as Vice 
President. In the program areas, Sandra 
Bressler (Canada) was re-elected as program 
co-ordinator for Practice Development, 
Liliana Alvarez Jaramillo (Columbia)  
was elected as program co-ordinator for 
Research and Tecla Mlambo (Zimbabwe) 
was elected as program co-ordinator  
for Education.

The Council Meeting and WFOT 
Congress held in May were key  
events for this year. 
Council Meeting
WFOT has now reached the significant 
milestone of 101 member countries. The 
largest number of Delegates, Alternates and 
Observers ever participated in this meeting 
– 106 people in total. It was an honour to 
welcome so many colleagues from Member 
Organisations in the African region. 

Congress
2025 delegates registered for the  
Congress from 85 different countries,  
with 31 Exhibitors, and 90 delegates from 
over 18 different countries received support 
to attend Congress through the fund-raising 
efforts of WFOT, Occupational Therapy 
Association of South Africa and other 

colleagues. The highest attending group at 
the Congress were occupational therapists 
from Africa. There were 1150 Presenters 
from 70 Countries – 15 of these countries 
represented are from the African region. 
WFOT also sponsored a successful Research 
Institute session at the Congress for the  
first time. 

Another key event was the Asia Pacific 
Occupational Therapy Symposium held  
in Taiwan in October 2017. This was a 
well-attended event with over 800 delegates.

Future WFOT events are as follows:
• 2020 WFOT Council meeting in Hong Kong

• 2020 Asia Pacific Occupational Therapy 
Regional Group Congress in the Philippines

• 2022 WFOT Congress in Paris

• 2024 Asia Pacific Occupational Therapy 
Regional Group Congress – location TBA.

The WFOT Bulletin continues to be 
published online and is available to all OTA 
members from the resource centre on the 
WFOT website using the member-only login. 
There is also an option to purchase printed 
copies. There are two issues a year covering 
a range of topics from around the world. 

World Occupational Therapy Day is held on 
27 October each year. A variety of promotional 
materials were available on the WFOT 
website including the logo and posters  
in five languages.

All OTA members are automatically 
members of WFOT. To ensure as many  
OTA members as possible access the WFOT 
resources, the instructions for registering on 
the WFOT website are now published in 
each WFOT report in OT Connections.

Lynette Mackenzie 
WFOT Delegate
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Annie McCluskey
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Director
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Finance Risk and Audit Committee 
Michelle Bissett – Chair 

Paul March 

Annie McCluskey

Kim Walder 

Rachel Norris 

Nominations Committee
Nicole O’Reilly – Chair (resigned May 2018)

Peter Bothams – Chair (from May 2018) 

Angela Berndt

Tracey Kroon

Linda Elliot

Carol McKinstry 

Research Foundation
Professor Gail Whiteford – Chair
Associate Professor Ted Brown

Professor Leeanne Carey

Professor Anne Cusick – AOTJ Editor in Chief
Professor Jennifer Fleming

Professor Tammy Hoffman

Dr Catherine Elliot

WFOT Program Approval Committee 
Carol McKinstry – Chair
Lee Zakrzewski

Ev Innes

Mandy Stanley

Lynette Mackenzie – WFOT Delegate
Anita Volkert (Secretariat)

Kim Mestroni (Outgoing Secretariat)

OTHER COMMITTEES
Australian Occupational Therapy 
Journal Editorial Board 
Professor Anne Cusick – Editor in Chief
Associate Editors
Professor Louise Gustafsson 

Associate Professor Ted Brown 

Associate Professor Helen Bourke-Taylor 
(Special Issue Editor)

Associate Professor Reinie Cordier

Associate Professor Genevieve Pepin

Associate Professor Sally Bennett

Dr Kate Laver (Department Editor Critically 
Appraised papers) 

Dr Carol McKinstry (Department Editor 
Viewpoints)

National Professional Practice  
and Standards Committee
The NPPS Committee continue to meet 
regularly. Following the launch of the Scope 
of Practice Framework in July, the committee 
is moving forward with developing an 
Advanced Practice Framework. 
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The Association’s Reference Groups ensure 
Occupational Therapy Australia maintains  
a member driven approach to our activities 
that prioritises the issues impacting our 
members and their day-to-day practice 
needs. The information and feedback 
received from our Reference Groups has 
influenced the Association’s external 
activities (e.g government relations; 
professional practice and standards 
matters), and has enabled us to connect 
with external stakeholders for the benefits  
of members and the profession.

REFERENCE 
GROUP

ACTIVITIES

Aged Care • 8 submissions developed 

• My Aged Care Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) published  
on the OTA website

• Updated information about aged care services published on  
OTA’s consumer website – aboutoccupationaltherapy.com.au

DVA • One submission developed 

• The Reference Group has continued to support OTA’s ongoing efforts  
to secure an increased rate of pay for OTs who provide services to 
veterans and war widows 

Mental 
Health

• 5 submissions developed 

• Contributed to OTA’s ongoing efforts to raise the profile of OTs working  
in mental health. This included the preparation of an ePoster for OTA’s 
2017 National Conference

• Provided feedback on an advocacy paper prepared by OTA to lobby on 
issues affecting OTs who provide mental health services through workers’ 
compensation schemes

• Provided feedback on guidelines for the Better Access telehealth services 
initiative, as well as telehealth resources developed by the Australian 
Psychological Society (APS)

NDIS • 8 submissions developed 

• Members attended provider forums across Australia as part of the NDIS 
Independent Pricing Review

• Provided feedback and advice in relation to the recommendations of the 
Independent Pricing Review – particularly in regard to a tiered pricing 
system for therapy services – and OTA’s proposed lobbying approach

• Provided feedback on changes to assistive technology/home 
modifications processes

Primary 
Health

• 2 submissiions developed 

• SA Division undertook a scoping study of Health Care Homes in SA and 
their level of engagement with OTs. The report outlines opportunities for 
future collaboration with Primary Health Networks (PHNs) and Health 
Care Homes

NATIONAL REFERENCE GROUPS
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M E M B E R  R E P R E S E N TAT I O N

DIVISIONAL COUNCILS

DIVISION REFERENCE GROUPS

ACT
Jennifer Lochard – Chair
Stephen Isbel – Deputy Chair
Nina Birkl 

Leanne Broad 

Maddy Crisp 

Alison Hartigan 

Asimina Peristeri 

NSW
Linda Elliott – Chair
Kim Bulkeley – Deputy Chair
Julie Cullenward 

Karen Liu 

Lyn McDonell 

Gemma Kim 

Samantha Ashby

NT
Sarah Lowe – Chair
Katrina Kawaljenko-Smith

Susan Brooks

Laura Slessor

Fiona Tipping

Rebecca Downing

QLD
Kieran Broome – Chair
Kim Walder – Vice Chair
Penny Power

Renee Spence

Jed Townsend 

Anna Young

SA
Liz McHugh – Chair
Sue Gilbert-Hunt

Stacey George

Edwina Shannon

Natalie Waterman

Olivia Hutchings

Annabel Hodson

Alice O’Connell-Debais

Chloe Stephenson

TAS
Fiona O’Keeffe – Chair
Robert Rickard

Verity Coulter

Robyn Arvier

Clarissa Adriel

VIC
Amanda Timmer – Chair
Sue Giles (Chair until August 2017)

Dr. Genevieve Pepin

Joy Goubran

Alison Smith

Juliet Ryan

Brynn Lewin

Paul Marsh (until October 2017) 
Heather McInnes (until September 2017)

WA
Janet Richmond – Chair  
(from November 2018)

Felicity Beaulieu – Vice Chair  
(from November 2018)

Lauren Britton

Jenny Swan

Claire Bean

Joanna Grzech

Sharon Keesing

Christopher Pearce

Jane Hopkins

Tessa Harrison – Student Rep  
(July 2017– March 2018)

Jeannine Millsteed (until September 2018)

ACT 
ACT NDIS Reference Group 

NSW 
Hunter NDIS Networking Reference Group 

QLD 
QLD NDIS Reference Group

VIC 
Victoria Workforce & Professional Issues 
Committee, OTs in Schools Working Party, 
OTA Vic Tas Regional Conference Committee 
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ADM Annual Divisional Meeting

AGM Annual General Meeting

AHPRA Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency

ANZCOTE Australia New Zealand Council of Occupational Therapy Educators

AOTJ Australian Occupational Therapy Journal

BAMH Better Access to Mental Health

DET Department of Education and Training

DGR Direct Gift Recipient

DVA Department of Veterans’ Affairs

FPS Focussed Psychological Strategies

NATA National Assistive Technology Alliance

NDIA National Disability Insurance 

NDIS National Disability Insurance Scheme

OPP Office of Professional Practice

OT Occupational Therapist

OTA Occupational Therapy Australia 

OTARF Occupational Therapy Australia Research Foundation

RAP Reconciliation Action Plan

WFOT World Federation of Occupational Therapists

WHO World Health Organisation

GLOSSARY



OTA ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 31

F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T S

FINANCIAL REPORTS 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018



32 www.otaus.com.au

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd  
ABN 27 025 075 008 

Directors' Report 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018 

1 

 

The directors present their report on Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd ("the Company") for the financial year ended 
30 June 2018. 

 Information on directors   

The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are: 
 
  

Angela Berndt  
Qualifications Bachelor of Applied Science (Occupational Therapy); 

Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)  
Experience Registered Occupational Therapist with experience in Aged Care & 

Dementia, Mental Health for older people, Domiciliary Care, Driver 
Assessment & Rehabilitation, Senior Lecturer Occupational Therapy 
program. 
Previous chair Occupational Therapy Australia (South Australia) 2011 
- 2014  

Special responsibilities President: July 2017 to current  
Member of Executive and National conference management 
committee;Nominations committee; CEO Appointment Committee   

  

Michelle Bissett  
Qualifications Bachelor of Applied Science (Honours)(Occupational Therapy) 

Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) 
Graduate Certificate in Biostatistics  

Experience Registered occupational therapist with clinical experience in acute 
and aged care. Currently employed as a Senior Lecturer in 
Queensland.  

Special responsibilities Vice President - Finance 
Chair of the Finance, Risk and Audit Committee; CEO Appointment 
Committee; CFO Appointment Committee  

  

Danette Hocking Appointed 27 October 2017 
Qualifications B App Sc Occupational Therapy  
Experience Danni has experience in the following industries: Sporting and 

entertainment, professional & financial services, health and education, 
child care, process manufacturing, NFP, FMCG, transport and 
logistics, warehouse and distribution, retail, local and federal 
government organisations  

  

Lynette Mackenzie  
Qualifications Dip (COT) 

Bachelor Applied Science (Occupational Therapy) 
Bachelor Educational Studies 
Master Educational Studies 
Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)  

Experience Registered Occupational Therapist with experience in ageing, home 
modifications, general rehabilitation, and cancer survivorship. 
Currently appointed as an associate professor in occupational therapy 
at a university level, and am responsible for teaching, research and 
research supervision. 
World Federation of Occupational Therapists delegate. 
Fellow of the Occupational Therapy Australia Research Academy. 
Co-Chair of the Occupational Therapy Australia Reconciliation Action 
Plan development group  
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ABN 27 025 075 008 

Directors' Report 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018 

 Information on directors (continued)   

2 

Paul Marsh Appointed 27 October 2017 
Qualifications Bachelor of Occupational Therapy (La Trobe University, Bundoora) 

Graduate Diploma in Ergonomics (University of Queensland, St Lucia)  
Experience Registered Occupational Therapist specialising in Occupational 

Rehabilitation. 
Previous Divisional Council Member (Victoria) 2014 – 2017  

Special responsibilities Member of Finance Risk and Audit Committee  
CEO Appointment Committee   

  

Carol McKinstry  
Qualifications Bachelor of Applied Science (OT) 

Graduate Certificate of Higher Education 
Master of Health Science 
Doctor of Philosophy 
Graduate of Australian Institute of Company Director (GACID)  

Experience Registered occupational therapist with experience in rehabilitation, 
senior management, clinical governance and risk management. 
Currently a senior lecturer academic with responsibilities for teaching, 
research and course coordination.  

Special responsibilities Chair, Occupational Therapy Australia WFOT Approval Committee 
Member, Occupational Therapy Australia Nominations Committee 
WFOT Education Programmes Reviewer 
Department Editor Australian Occupational Therapy Journal 
  

Margaret McCluskey Appointed 27 October 2017 
Qualifications PhD MA DipCOT FOTARA  
Experience She is a leader in occupational therapy and stroke rehabilitation 

research, being recently inaugurated as a Fellow of the Occupational 
Therapy Australia Research Academy (FOTARA).  She led the 
occupational therapy working group which helped write the 2017 
national stroke guidelines.   
Since 2010, she has been an active board director (and treasurer) for 
Ben Ricketts Environmental Preserve or BREP  

Special responsibilities Member of the Finance, Risk and Audit Committee  
  

Iona Novak Appointed 27 October 2017 
Qualifications PhD, MSc (Hons), BAppSc  
Experience Board of Director | Social Policy Unit | McGill University, Montreal 

Canada 
Board of Director | Reaching for the Stars | Not-for-Profit Consumer 
Group 
Senior Executive | Direct report to CEO at Cerebral Palsy Alliance 
[1100 staff; Operating Budget $100mil] 
Scientific Advisor | Wineberg Family Cerebral Palsy Centre | 
Columbia University Medical Centre New York  

Special responsibilities CEO Appointment Committee | Selection and appointment of a new 
CEO 
National Paediatrics Symposium Organising Committee | Conference 
organisation 
Professional Development Taskforce |  Redesign of the process for 
securing CPD presenters to ensure CPD offerings are evidence 
based  
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Directors' Report 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018 

 Information on directors (continued)   

3 

Peter Bothams Resigned 27 October 2017 
Qualifications Bachelor of Occupational Therapy; 

Graduate Certificate Health Management (Old Health); 
Gaduate Australian Institute of Company Directors (GAICD)  

Experience Registered Occupational Therapist working in a variety of roles in 
government and private sector. 
Previous experience as a Board Member and Treasurer for Services 
for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health (SARRAH).  

Natasha Lannin Resigned 27 October 2017 
Qualifications Bachelor of Science (Occupational Therapy); 

Doctor of Philosophy (PhD); 
Graduate Diploma (Case Management); 
Member: Women on Boards; 
Member: Governance Institute of Australia.  

Experience Registered occupational therapist with experience in neurology, 
ageing, and rehabilitation; Currently holds a joint appointment 
between health and university working in research and academic 
supervision.  

  

Val Lehmann-Monck Resigned 27 October 2017 
Qualifications Bachelor of Applied Science in Occupational Therapy (1989) 

Master of Applied Science in Occupational Therapy (1999) 
Australian Institute of Company Directors (2016)  

Experience Registered occupational therapist; Company director, business 
manager, educator, and practice leader in occupational therapy. Over 
20 years' experience in management, governance, and senior clinical 
roles (primarily paediatrics and disability).  
Nine years providing expert advice to the NSW government in order 
to facilitate sector wide, best practice services to people with 
disability. Currently Practice Leader Occupational Therapy for The 
Benevolent Society  

 
Kim Walder 

 
Resigned 27 October 2017 

Qualifications Bachelor of Occupational Therapy 
Master of Medical Research  
Postgraduate Diploma (Management); 
Advanced Diploma Management (HR);  
Advanced Diploma Marketing;  
Advanced Diploma (Finance)  

Experience Registered occupational therapist with experience across clinical 
settings and contexts, management, project management and policy. 
Lecturer in occupational therapy and PhD candidate  

  

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

 Principal activities   

The principal activity of Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd during the financial year was to represent the interests of its 
members and Occupational Therapists across the country. Ensuring that members consistently receive quality, 
responsive services that add significant value to their careers and support them to provide high quality services and 
care. The Company also aims to support, promote and represent the profession of Occupational Therapy as a key 
element of the allied health sector in Australia. 

No significant changes in the nature of the Company's activity occurred during the financial year. 



OTA ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 35

F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T SF I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T S

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd  
ABN 27 025 075 008 
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2018 

4 

 Short term objectives   

The Company's short term objectives are: 

• Professional development 

• Information, communications and relationships 

• Representation, and 

• Practice standards. 

 Long term objectives   

The Company's long term objectives are: 

• Marketing, recruitment, brand and profile 

• Research 

• International presence, and 

• Governance. 

 Key performance measures   

The Company measures its own performance through the use of both quantitative and qualitative benchmarks. The 
benchmarks are used by the directors to assess the financial sustainability of the Company and whether the Company's 
short-term and long-term objectives are being achieved. 

 Members guarantee   

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd is a company limited by guarantee. In the event of, and for the purpose of winding 
up of the Company, the amount capable of being called up from each members and any person or association who 
ceased to be a member in the year prior to the winding up, is limited to $20, subject to the provisions of Company's 
constitution. 

At 30 June 2018 the number of members was 9,248 (2017: 7,264) and the collective liability of members was $184,960 
(2017: $145,280). 
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 Meetings of directors   

During the financial year, 8 meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director during the year were as 
follows: 
  

 

Directors' 
Meetings 

 

Number 
eligible to 

attend 
Number 
attended 

Angela Berndt 8 7 
Michelle Bissett 8 8 
Danette Hocking 5 5 
Lynette Mackenzie 8 8 
Margaret McCluskey 5 4 
Carol McKinstry 8 8 
Iona Novak 5 5 
Paul Marsh 5 5 
Peter Bothams 3 3 
Natasha Lannin 3 1 
Val Lehmann-Monck 3 3 
Kim Walder 3 3 
   

 Auditor's independence declaration   

The auditor's independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2018 has been received and can be found on page 
6 of the financial report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

Dated this 18th day of October 2018 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
 
We declare that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of any 
applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit of the financial report of Occupational 
Therapy Australia Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
 
 

 
 

HLB Mann Judd      Jude Lau 
Chartered Accountants     Partner  
 
Melbourne 
18 October 2018 

 
 

 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
 
We declare that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of any 
applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit of the financial report of Occupational 
Therapy Australia Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
 
 

 
 

HLB Mann Judd      Jude Lau 
Chartered Accountants     Partner  
 
Melbourne 
18 October 2018 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018  

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
7 

 Note 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 
Revenue 4  5,253,804   3,919,923  
Employee benefits expense 5  (2,415,610)   (2,017,709)  
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5  (20,747)   (68,220)  
Administration expense 5  (279,307)   (253,730)  
Consultancy expense   (284,339)   (320,609)  
Conference   (803,285)   (192,857)  
Member CPD   (590,676)   (581,749)  
Volunteers and staff travel   (192,602)   (159,820)  
Grant expenses 5  (31,351)   (27,945)  
Marketing expenses   (17,404)   (5,264)  
Office administration costs 5  (300,875)   (246,758)  
Other expenses   (121,023)   (76,165)  
Rental expenses 5  (118,126)   (100,268)  
Finance costs 5  (30,473)   (33,855)  

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year   47,986   (165,026)  

Other comprehensive surplus/(deficit)  
  

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  
  

Revaluation changes for property, plant and equipment 15  529,856   -  
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss when specific conditions are 
met 

 
 -   -  

Other comprehensive surplus/(deficit) for the year   529,856   -  

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit) for the year   577,842   (165,026)  
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 Note 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 

ASSETS  
  

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 6  4,065,318   4,714,069  
Trade and other receivables 7  158,637   116,722  
Other financial assets 8  250,000   -  
Other assets 9  27,259   129,805  
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   4,501,214   4,960,596  
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Property, plant and equipment 10  2,394,718   1,854,270  
Intangible assets 11  69,647   -  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   2,464,365   1,854,270  
TOTAL ASSETS   6,965,579   6,814,866  

LIABILITIES  
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 12  527,187   388,545  
Employee benefits 13  201,278   197,502  
Other liabilities 14  1,781,512   2,345,021  
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   2,509,977   2,931,068  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Employee benefits 13  24,340   30,378  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   24,340   30,378  
TOTAL LIABILITIES   2,534,317   2,961,446  
NET ASSETS   4,431,262   3,853,420  
 

EQUITY  
  

Reserves 15  948,217   418,361  
Accumulated surplus 16  249,842   201,856  
Equity transfers from liquidated entities   3,233,203   3,233,203  
TOTAL EQUITY   4,431,262   3,853,420  
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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2018      

 Note 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

$ 

Equity 
Transfers from 

Liquidated 
Entities 

$ 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Balance at 1 July 2017 15, 16  201,856   3,233,203   418,361   3,853,420  
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 16  47,986   -   -   47,986  

Other comprehensive surplus/(deficit) for the 
year:      

Revaluation gain/(loss) on property 15  -   -   529,856   529,856  

Balance at 30 June 2018 15, 16  249,842   3,233,203   948,217   4,431,262  
 
2017      

 Note 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

$ 

Equity 
Transfers from 

Liquidated 
Entities 

$ 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Balance at 1 July 2016 15, 16  265,882   3,233,203   519,361   4,018,446  
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 16  (165,026)   -   -   (165,026)  
Transfer from asset revaluation reserve 
realised increment on freehold property sold 
during the year 15, 16  101,000   -   (101,000)   -  

Balance at 30 June 2017 15, 16  201,856   3,233,203   418,361   3,853,420  
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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 Note 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:  
  

Receipts from customers   5,028,345   5,476,295  
Payments to suppliers and employees   (5,406,296)   (4,483,747)  
Interest received   80,187   73,894  
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 17  (297,764)   1,066,442  
 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:  
  

Proceeds from sale of assets held for sale   -   875,000  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (31,340)   (13,938)  
Purchase of intangible assets   (69,647)   -  
Payment for term deposits   (250,000)   -  
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   (350,987)   861,062  
 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held   (648,751)   1,927,504  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   4,714,069   2,786,565  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 6(a)  4,065,318   4,714,069  
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The financial report covers Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd as an individual entity. Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd is 
a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

The functional and presentation currency of Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd is Australian dollars. 

The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 18 October 2018. 

Comparatives are consistent with prior periods, unless otherwise stated.  

1  Basis of Preparation  

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012. The Company is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under the Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based 
on historical costs modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, 
financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and are 
consistent with prior reporting periods unless otherwise stated. 

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

(a) Income Tax  

The Company is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

(b) Leases  

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.  

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the lease term. 

(c) Revenue and other income  

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic 
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company and specific criteria relating to the type of 
revenue as noted below, has been satisfied. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net of 
returns, discounts and rebates. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(c) Revenue and other income (continued)  

12 

 Grant revenue   

Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the 
Company obtains control of the grant, it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to 
the Company and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. 

When grant revenue is received whereby the Company incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly 
back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in the 
statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the 
grant is recognised as income on receipt. 

Where Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd receives non-reciprocal contributions of assets from the government 
and other parties for zero or a nominal value, these assets are recognised at fair value on the date of acquisition 
in the statement of financial position, with a corresponding amount of income recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 Donations and bequests   

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. 

 Interest revenue   

Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

 Rendering of services   

Revenue in relation to rendering of services is recognised upon delivery of the service to the customers. 

(d) Goods and services tax (GST)  

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
classified as operating cash flows. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments which are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

Bank overdrafts also form part of cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows and are 
presented within current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 
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(f) Financial instruments  

Financial instruments are recognised initially using trade date accounting, i.e. on the date that the Company 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for 
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred). 

Financial Assets  

The Company has financial assets that are divided into the following categories which are described in detail 
below: 

• loans and receivables; and 

• held-to-maturity investments. 

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the characteristics 
of the instrument and its purpose. A financial instrument’s category is relevant to the way it is measured and 
whether any resulting income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. 

All income and expenses relating to financial assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in the ‘finance income’ or ‘finance costs’ line item respectively. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers but 
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets. 

After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision 
for impairment. Any change in their value is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Company’s trade and other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. 

Significant receivables are considered for impairment on an individual asset basis when they are past due at the 
reporting date or when objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. 

The amount of the impairment is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the 
future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable. 

In some circumstances, the Company renegotiates repayment terms with customers which may lead to changes 
in the timing of the payments, the Company does not necessarily consider the balance to be impaired, however 
assessment is made on a case-by-case basis. 

Held-to-maturity investments  

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity. Investments are classified as held-to-maturity if it is the intention of the Company's management to 
hold them until maturity.  
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(f) Financial instruments (continued)  

14 

Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis. In addition, if there is objective evidence that the investment 
has been impaired, the financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated cash flows. Any changes to 
the carrying amount of the investment are recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or other financia l 
liabilities depending on the purpose for which the liability was acquired.  

The Company‘s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, which are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.  

Impairment of financial assets 

At the end of the reporting period the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate. 

Impairment on loans and receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance accounts, all other impairment 
losses on financial assets at amortised cost are taken directly to the asset. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss. 

(g) Property, plant and equipment  

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. 

Items of property, plant and equipment acquired for nil or nominal consideration have been recorded at the 
acquisition date fair value. 

Where the cost model is used, the asset is carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment losses. Costs include purchase price, other directly attributable costs and the initial estimate of the 
costs of dismantling and restoring the asset, where applicable. 

Assets measured using the revaluation model are carried at fair value at the revaluation date less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Periodic, but at least triennial, valuations by 
external independent valuers are performed. In periods when the assets are not subject to an independent 
valuation, the Directors conduct Directors' valuations. Revaluations are performed whenever there is a material 
movement in the value of an asset under the revaluation model. 
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(g) Property, plant and equipment (continued)  

15 

 Land and buildings   

Land and buildings are measured using the revaluation model. 

 Plant and equipment    

Plant and equipment are measured using the cost model. 

 Depreciation   

Property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a reducing balance basis over the 
assets useful life to the Company, commencing when the asset is ready for use. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below: 
Fixed asset class Depreciation rate 
Buildings  2%  
Plant and Equipment  40%  
Leased plant and equipment  8% - 20%  

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset 
is reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. 

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets  

At the end of each reporting period the Company determines whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. 

Where this indicator exists and regardless for indefinite life intangible assets and intangible assets not yet 
available for use, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 

Where assets do not operate independently of other assets, the recoverable amount of the relevant 
cash-generating unit (CGU) is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in 
use. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or 
cash-generating unit. 

Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

Reversal indicators are considered in subsequent periods for all assets which have suffered an impairment loss. 
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

16 

(i) Trade and other payables  

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the Company during the 
reporting period that remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current 
liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 

(j) Employee benefits   

 Short-term employee benefits   

Provision is made for the Company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits 
are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the 
end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages and 
salaries. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when 
the obligation is settled. 

The Company’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages and salaries are recognised as a 
part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. 

 Other long-term employee benefits   

Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related 
service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future payments 
to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, 
durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms 
of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee benefits, the net change 
in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as a part of employee benefits expense. 

The Company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its 
statement of financial position, except where the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are 
presented as current provisions. 

 Defined contribution schemes   

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are recognised as an employee 
benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods in which services are provided by employees. 

(k) Fair value  

The Company measures some of its assets at fair value. Fair value is the price the Company would receive to 
sell an asset in an orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market 
participants at the measurement date. 

 
As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to 
determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the 
specific asset. The fair values of assets that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or 
more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable 
market data. 
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(k) Fair value (continued)  

17 

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset (ie the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset) or, in the absence of such a market, the most 
advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (ie the market that maximises the 
receipts from the sale of the asset, after taking into account transaction costs and transport costs). 
 
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability to use 
the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use. 

(l) Adoption of new and revised accounting standards  

The Company has adopted all standards which became effective for the first time at 30 June 2018, the adoption 
of these standards has not caused any material adjustments to the reported financial position, performance or 
cash flow of the Company. 

(m) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations   

The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory 
application dates for future reporting periods. The Company has decided not to early adopt these Standards. 
The following table summarises those future requirements, and their impact on the Company where the standard 
is relevant: 
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(m) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)   
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Standard Name 
Effective date 
for entity  Requirements  Impact  

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts 
with customers  

Annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2019  

AASB 15 introduces a five step process for 
revenue recognition with the core principle of the 
new Standard being for entities to recognise 
revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services 
to customers in amounts that reflect the 
consideration (that is, payment) to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services. 
 
Accounting policy changes will arise in timing of 
revenue recognition, treatment of contracts costs 
and contracts which contain a financing element. 
 
AASB 15 will also result in enhanced disclosures 
about revenue, provide guidance for transactions 
that were not previously addressed 
comprehensively (for example, service revenue 
and contract modifications) and improve guidance 
for multiple-element arrangements.  

The changes in 
revenue recognition 
requirements in AASB 
15 is likely to cause 
changes to the timing 
and amount of 
revenue recorded in 
the financial 
statements.  

AASB 16 Leases  Annual 
reporting 
period 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2019  

AASB 16 will cause the majority of leases of an 
entity to be brought onto the statement of financial 
position. There are limited exceptions relating to 
short-term leases and low value assets which may 
remain off-balance sheet. 
 
The calculation of the lease liability will take into 
account appropriate discount rates, assumptions 
about lease term and increases in lease payments. 
 
A corresponding right to use asset will be 
recognised which will be amortised over the term 
of the lease. 
 
Rent expense will no longer be shown, the profit 
and loss impact of the leases will be through 
amortisation and interest charges.  

Whilst the impact of 
AASB 16 has not yet 
been quantified, the 
entity currently has 
operating leases which 
we anticipate will be 
brought onto the 
statement of financial 
position. 
 
Interest and 
amortisation expense 
will increase and rental 
expense will decrease.  

AASB 9 Financial Instruments  Annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2018  

Significant revisions to the classification and 
measurement of financial assets, reducing the 
number of categories and simplifying the 
measurement choices, including the removal of 
impairment testing of assets measured at fair 
value. The amortised cost model is available for 
debt assets meeting both business model and 
cash flow characteristics tests. All investments in 
equity instruments using AASB 9 are to be 
measured at fair value. 
 
Amends measurement rules for financial liabilities 
that the entity elects to measure at fair value 
through profit and loss. Changes in fair value 
attributable to changes in the entity’s own credit 
risk are presented in other comprehensive income. 
 
AASB 9 includes a new approach to hedge 
accounting that is intended to more closely align 
hedge accounting with risk management activities 
undertaken by entities when hedging financial and 
non-financial risks.   

No impact on reported 
financial performance 
or position is expected.  
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(m) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)   

19 

Standard Name 
Effective date 
for entity  Requirements  Impact  

AASB 1058 Income of NFP 
Entities  

Annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2019  

AASB 1058 supersedes all the income recognition 
requirements relating to private sector NFP 
entities, and the majority of income recognition 
requirements relating to public sector NFP entities, 
previously in AASB 1004 Contribution. The timing 
of income recognition depends on whether such a 
transaction gives rise to a liability or other 
performance obligation (a promise to transfer a 
good or service), or a contribution by owners, 
related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) 
received by an entity. 
 
AASB 1058 applies when a NFP entity receives 
volunteer services or enters into other transactions 
where the consideration to acquire an asset is 
significantly less than the fair value of the asset 
principally to enable the entity to further its 
objectives. In the latter case, the entity recognises 
and measures the asset at fair value in accordance 
with the applicable Australian Accounting Standard 
(eg AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment). 
 
Upon initial recognition of the asset, this Standard 
requires the entity to consider whether any other 
financial statement elements (called ‘related 
amounts’) should be recognised in accordance 
with the applicable Accounting Standard, such as: 
 
(a) contributions by owners; 
(b) revenue, or a contract liability arising from a 
contract with a customer; 
(c) a lease liability; 
(d) a financial instrument; or 
(e) a provision. 
 
If the transaction is a transfer of a financial asset to 
enable an entity to acquire or construct a 
recognisable nonfinancial asset to be controlled by 
the entity (ie an in-substance acquisition of a 
nonfinancial asset), the entity recognises a liability 
for the excess of the fair value of the transfer over 
any related amounts recognised. The entity 
recognises income as it satisfies its obligations 
under the transfer similarly to income recognition in 
relation to performance obligations under AASB 
15. 
 
If the transaction does not enable an entity to 
acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial 
asset to be controlled by the entity, then any 
excess of the initial carrying amount of the 
recognised asset over the related amounts is 
recognised as income.  

Each revenue stream, 
including grant 
agreements are 
currently being 
reviewed to determine 
the impact of AASB 
1058. 
 
We anticipate that 
some grant 
agreements which 
were previously 
recognised 
immediately on receipt 
may be able to be 
deferred as the 
performance obligation 
is satisfied.  
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3  Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements  

The directors make estimates and judgements during the preparation of these financial statements regarding 
assumptions about current and future events affecting transactions and balances. 

These estimates and judgements are based on the best information available at the time of preparing the financial 
statements, however as additional information is known then the actual results may differ from the estimates. 

The significant estimates and judgements made have been described below. 

 Key judgements - Employee benefits   

For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119 Employee Benefits defines obligations for short-term employee benefits as 
obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related services. As the Company expects that most employees will not use all of their annual 
leave entitlements in the same year in which they are earned or during the 12 month period that follows (despite an 
informal Company policy that requires annual leave to be used within 18 months), the Directors believe that obligations 
for annual leave entitlements satisfy the definition of other long-term employee benefits and, therefore, are required to 
be measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. 
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4  Revenue and Other Income  

  

2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

Operating revenue:  
  

- Advertising & sponsorship   199,274   199,572  
- Assessment of Motor & Process Skills (AMPS) training   48,034   14,423  
- Member CPD   1,046,180   1,023,767  
- Commissions   97,974   90,928  
- Conference income   1,221,711   318,677  
- Membership fees   2,375,622   2,015,624  
- Other income   131,399   116,642  
- Publication sales   4,312   9,182  
- Royalties   49,111   51,971  
- Interest received on financial assets   80,187   79,137  

Total revenue   5,253,804   3,919,923  

5  Expenses  

 

2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

Depreciation and amortisation:   

 - buildings  -   37,500  
 - plant and equipment  20,747   30,720  

Total depreciation and amortisation  20,747   68,220  

Grant expenses   

- Elspeth Pearson Award  825   10,333  
- Other grant expenses  30,526   17,612  

Total grant expenses  31,351   27,945  

Finance costs   

- Bank charges  1,477   1,673  
- Merchant fees  28,996   32,182  

Total finance costs  30,473   33,855  

Administration costs   

- Art work  16,739   14,780  
- Magazine printing and distribution  55,936   57,788  
- Editor - honorarium  20,000   15,685  
- Printing and photocopying  21   2,563  
- Journal  108,066   94,079  
- Payment organisation dues  60,330   49,678  
- Staff and board training  10,650   6,225  
- Other expenses  7,565   12,932  

Total administration costs  279,307   253,730  
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22 

 

2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

 

Office administration costs   

- Accounting and audit fees  18,479   17,059  
- Recruitment  41,232   27,142  
- Stationery  23,073   23,436  
- Communications  46,508   41,013  
- Postage  7,729   13,552  
- Repairs and maintenance  116,782   77,730  
- Rates  12,407   14,192  
- Cleaning  20,984   19,819  
- Utilities  12,636   12,101  
- Printing marketing material  1,045   714  

Total office administration costs  300,875   246,758  

   

Employee benefits expense:   

 - salaries and wages  2,126,555   1,779,572  
 - superannuation  190,785   161,860  
 - payroll tax  84,342   67,344  
 - workers compensation  9,741   12,623  
 - other employer expenses  4,187   (3,690)  

Total employee benefits expense  2,415,610   2,017,709  

Rental expense on operating leases:   

  - minimum lease payments  118,126   100,268  

Total rental expense  118,126   100,268  
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6  Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 Note 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 
Cash on hand   570   738  
Cash at bank   829,055   990,429  
Short-term deposits   3,142,911   3,621,844  
Elspeth Pearson Award   92,782   101,058  

Total cash and cash equivalents 6(a)  4,065,318   4,714,069  

(a) Reconciliation of cash   

Cash and cash equivalents reported in the statement of cash flows are reconciled to the equivalent items in the 
statement of financial position as follows: 
Cash and cash equivalents 6  4,065,318   4,714,069  

Balance as per statement of cash flows   4,065,318   4,714,069  

7  Trade and Other Receivables  

CURRENT  
  

Trade receivables   156,731   113,263  
Provision for impairment   (7,916)   (8,660)  

   148,815   104,603  
Other receivables   9,822   12,119  

Total current trade and other receivables   158,637   116,722  

(a) Impairment of receivables   

Reconciliation of changes in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows: 
Balance at beginning of the year  8,661   5,719  
Additional impairment loss recognised  7,916   2,942  
Reversal of impairment  (8,661)   -  

Balance at end of the year  7,916   8,661  

8  Other financial assets  

CURRENT  
  

Held-to-maturity financial assets:  
  

Term deposit   250,000   -  
Total current other financial assets   250,000   -  
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9  Other Assets  

 

2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

CURRENT   

Prepayments  24,059   15,088  
Prepaid national conference expense  -   100,238  
Security deposit - WA  3,200   3,200  
Security bond - Queensland office  -   11,279  

Total current other assets  27,259   129,805  

10  Property, plant and equipment  

Buildings   

At independent valuation  2,340,000   1,875,000  
Accumulated depreciation  -   (64,856)  

Total buildings  2,340,000   1,810,144  

Plant and equipment   

At cost  258,575   227,235  
Accumulated depreciation  (203,857)   (183,109)  

Total plant and equipment  54,718   44,126  

Total property, plant and equipment  2,394,718   1,854,270  

The Company's buildings were revalued at 30 June 2018 by independent valuers. The 2018 valuation was performed 
by Certified Practising Valuers WBP Property Group and Arrow Property Valuations. Valuations were made using the 
price that would be received to sell the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. The revaluation surplus was credited to an asset revaluation reserve in equity. 

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts   

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and 
the end of the current financial year: 

 

Buildings 
$ 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Year ended 30 June 2018    

Balance at the beginning of year  1,810,144   44,126   1,854,270  
Additions  -   31,339   31,339  
Depreciation expense  -   (20,747)   (20,747)  
Revaluation increase recognised in equity  529,856   -   529,856  

Balance at the end of the year  2,340,000   54,718   2,394,718  
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11  Intangible Assets  

 

2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

AMS database   

Cost  69,647   -  

Total intangibles  69,647   -  

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of intangible assets   

 

 

AMS 
Database 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Year ended 30 June 2018   

Balance at the beginning of the year  -   -  
Additions  69,647   69,647  

Closing value at 30 June 2018  69,647   69,647  

12  Trade and other payables  

  

2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

CURRENT  
  

Unsecured liabilities    

Trade payables   82,521   90,432  
GST payable   147,266   151,212  
Sundry payables and accrued expenses   297,400   146,901  

Total current trade and other payables   527,187   388,545  

13  Employee Benefits  

CURRENT   

Long service leave  41,283   38,718  
Annual leave  149,401   147,198  
Time in lieu  10,594   11,586  

Total current employee benefits  201,278   197,502  

NON-CURRENT   

Long service leave  24,340   30,378  

Total non-current employee benefits  24,340   30,378  
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Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave, long service leave and time in lieu. 

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts 
accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of 
service. Based on past experience, the Company does not expect the full amount of annual leave and long service 
leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be 
classified as current liabilities since the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these 
amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave entitlement. 

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not yet 
vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service. 

In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave 
being taken is based upon historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits have been 
discussed in Note 2(j). 

 

14  Other Liabilities  

 

2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

CURRENT   

Deferred income  1,781,512   2,345,021  

Total current other liabilities  1,781,512   2,345,021  

15  Reserves  
   

Revaluation surplus   

Opening balance  418,361   519,361  
Gain on revaluation  529,856   -  
Transfers out  -   (101,000)  

Closing balance  948,217   418,361  

Total reserves  948,217   418,361  

(a) Asset revaluation reserve   

The asset revaluation reserve records fair value movements on property, plant and equipment held under the 
revaluation model. 

16  Accumulated surplus  
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the beginning of the financial year  201,856   265,882  
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  47,986   (165,026)  
Transfers in  -   101,000  

Accumulated surplus at end of the financial year  249,842   201,856  
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17  Cash Flow Information  

 Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities   

 Note 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year   47,986   (165,026)  
Non-cash flows in surplus/(deficit):    

 - depreciation   20,747   68,220  
Changes in assets and liabilities:    

 - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables   (41,915)   102,163  
 - (increase)/decrease in other assets   102,546   (74,810)  
 - increase/(decrease) in other liabilities   (563,509)   1,037,561  
 - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables   138,643   66,811  
 - increase/(decrease) in employee benefits   (2,262)   31,523  

Cashflow from operations   (297,764)   1,066,442  

18  Financial Risk Management  

The Company's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments, and accounts 
receivable and payable. 

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the 
accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

Financial Assets  
  

Cash and cash equivalents 6  4,065,318   4,714,069  
Held-to-maturity investments 8  250,000   -  
Loans and receivables 7  158,637   116,722  

Total financial assets   4,473,955   4,830,791  

Financial Liabilities  
  

Financial liabilities at amortised cost    

- Trade and other payables 12  527,187   388,545  

Total financial liabilities   527,187   388,545  

Refer to Note 19 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the Company's financial assets and 
financial liabilities. 
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19  Fair Value Measurement  

The Company has the following assets, as set out in the table below, that are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis after their initial recognition. The Company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a 
recurring basis and has no assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

 Note 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 

Recurring fair value measurements    

Property, plant and equipment (less accumulated depreciation):    

 - Buildings 10  2,340,000   1,810,144  

Total recurring fair value measurements   2,340,000   1,810,144  

Refer to Note 10 Property, plant and equipment for the basis of valuation. 

20  Auditor's Remuneration  
Remuneration of the auditor of the Company, HLB Mann Judd, for:   

- auditing the financial statements  12,360   12,000  
- accounts compilation  2,060   2,000  

Total auditor's remuneration  14,420   14,000  

21  Leasing Commitments  

 Operating leases   
Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases:  

  

- not later than one year   27,450   76,078  
- between one year and five years   54,900   72,015  

Total minimum lease payments   82,350   148,093  

The Company leases offices in South Australia, Queensland and Western Australia. The property leases are 
non-cancellable with varying terms ranging between 12 months to 3 years, with rent payable in advance. 

An option exists to renew the leases at the end of the existing term. The lease allows for subletting of all lease areas. 



60 www.otaus.com.au

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd 
ABN 27 025 075 008 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018 

 

29 

22  Key Management Personnel Compensation  

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity are considered key 
management personnel. The names and positions of executive management are: 

• Ms Rachel Norris (Chief Executive Officer) from 1 July 2017 until 20 June 2018;  

• Ms Nicole O'Reilly (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) from 7 May 2018 and 

• Mr Azzam Al-Ashi (Finance Manager and Company Secretary). 

The Directors act in an honorary capacity and receive no compensation for their services. During the financial period, 
travel and out of pocket expenses incurred by the Directors in fulfilling their roles were reimbursed.  

The total remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Company was $297,992 for the year ended 30 June 
2018 (2017: $300,762). 

23  Related Parties  

(a) The Company's main related parties are as follows:   

(i) Key management personnel: 

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity are considered key 
management personnel. 

For details of remuneration disclosures relating to key management personnel, refer to Note 22: Key 
Management Personnel Compensation. 

(b) Transactions with related parties   

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 



OTA ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 61

F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T S

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd 
ABN 27 025 075 008 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018 

 

30 

24  Members' Guarantee  

The Company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a Company limited by guarantee. If the Company 
is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $20 each towards 
meeting any outstandings and obligations of the Company. At 30 June 2018 the number of members was 9,248 (2017: 
7,264). 

25  Contingencies  

Other than the following, the Company does not have any contingencies as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017. 

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd has provided commercial property as security to Westpac Bank Ltd for the use of 
Merchant Card facilities. 

The Company acts as trustee of the Occupational Therapy Australia Research Foundation (the "Trust") and liabilities 
have been incurred on behalf of the Trust in the Company's capacity as Trustee. To the extent that the Trust is unable 
to meet any obligations, the trustee may be held liable. Liabilities incurred on behalf of the Trust are therefore not 
recognised in the financial statements when it is not probable that the Company will have to meet any of those Trust 
liabilities from its own resources. When it is probable that the Company will have to meet some Trust liabilities, a 
provision for Trust liabilities will be brought to account. In addition, the Company as trustee has a right to be indemnified 
out of the Trust assets for any obligation not met by the Trust. Details of the Trust liabilities and assets are detailed in 
Note 26. 

26  Trust information  

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd acted as trustee of the Occupational Therapy Australia Research Foundation Trust 
("the Trust") for the financial periods. The Trust has a 30 June year end balance date in accordance with its Trust Deed. 
The financial information for the Trust is presented below: 

 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income   

Revenue   

Sundry donations received  25,100   130  
Interest received  165   1,725  
Investment income  7,336   1,275  

Expenses   

Auditor's remuneration  (1,500)   (1,500)  
Bank charges  (5)   (10)  
DGR Grant  (12,900)   (14,700)  
Investment management fees  (3,817)   (983)  

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit)  14,379   (14,063)  



62 www.otaus.com.au

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd 
ABN 27 025 075 008 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018 

 

26  Trust information (continued)  

31 

 

As at 
30 June 2018 

$ 

As at 
30 June 2017 

$ 

Statement of Financial Position   

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents  12,758   397  
Financial assets  259,286   248,250  

Liabilities   

Sundry payables  (6,000)   (4,500)  

Net assets  266,044   244,147  

27  Events after the end of the Reporting Period  

The financial report was authorised for issue on 18 October 2018 by the Board of Directors. 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company 
in future financial years. 

28  Company Details  
 
The registered office of and principal place of business of the Company is: 

Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd 
Unit 6, 340 Gore Street 
Fitzroy Victoria 3065 
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The directors of the Company declare that: 
 
1.  The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 7 to 31, are in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian 

Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and: 

a. comply with Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Regulations 2013; and 

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of the performance for the year ended on 
that date of the Company. 

 
2.  In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Dated this 18th day of October 2018 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Occupational Therapy Australia Ltd 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report of Occupational Therapy Australia (“the Company”) which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with Division 60 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:  
 
a) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its 

financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and  
 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 
Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.   
 

Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by Division 60 of the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, which has been given to those charged with governance, 
would be in the same terms if given as at the time of this auditor’s report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
 
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report  for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial report does not cover 
the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as 
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
 

 
 

   
HLB Mann Judd Jude Lau 
Chartered Accountants Partner 
 
Melbourne 
18 October 2018 
 






